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Preliminary report 
 
This financial report is for the year ended 30 June 2025. Tribeca Global Natural Resources Limited (the 
“Company”) commenced operations on 12 October 2018, following its successful listing on the Australian 
Securities Exchange (“ASX”). This is the seventh reporting year for the Company. 
 
Results for announcement to the market 
 

   30 June  30 June   

   2025  2024 Movement 

   $  $  $  % 

   

Revenue/(loss) from ordinary activities  20,226,790 (2,398,046) 22,624,836  943.47% 

Profit/(loss) from ordinary activities  7,049,018 (14,376,243) 21,425,261  149.03% 
Profit/(loss) from ordinary activities after 
tax attributable to members  5,016,143 (9,589,339) 14,605,482  152.31% 

Basic and diluted earnings/(loss) per share  0.06 (0.12) 0.18  150.00% 
 
Dividends 
 
On 25 August 2025, the Company declared a fully franked dividend of $0.05 per share following the annual 
results. The record date for the annual dividend will be 3 September 2025. 
 
Dividend reinvestment plan 
 
On 25 August 2025, the Directors resolved to approve the amended dividend reinvestment plan (“DRP”) for 
shareholders. The Company invites all eligible shareholders to participate in the DRP subject to the rules of the 
DRP. 
 
TGF offers a dividend reinvestment plan to registered shareholders providing shareholders the opportunity to 
reinvest dividends to purchase additional TGF shares in the market, rather than receiving dividends as cash. 
Participation in the plan is optional and is subject to the terms and conditions of the plan, which can be found at 
https://tribecaip.com/lic/corporate-governance/. 
 

Net tangible assets   30 June  30 June 

   2025  2024 

   $  $ 

    

Net tangible assets (per share) excluding tax  2.09 2.00 

Net tangible assets (per share) including tax  2.15 2.08 
 
Brief explanation of results and Company outlook 
 
Refer to the Directors’ Report for brief explanation of results and Company outlook. 
 
Audit 
 
This report is based on the financial report which has been audited. All the documents comprise the information 
required by Listing Rule 4.3A. 
 
Annual General Meeting 
 
The Company’s Annual General Meeting will be held on the 21 November 2025. Further details will be provided 
in the Notice of Meeting to be sent to all shareholders as released to the ASX. 
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Corporate governance statement 

 

The Corporate Governance Statement sets out the Company’s current compliance with the ASX 

Corporate Governance Council’s fourth edition Corporate Governance Principles and 

Recommendations (ASX Recommendations). This statement has been approved by the Board on 

25 August 2025. 

 

Accordingly, a copy of the Company’s CGS is available on the Company website under the 

Corporate Governance section (https://tribecaip.com/lic/corporate-governance). 
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Letter from the Chairperson 

Fellow Shareholders 

On behalf of my fellow Directors on the Board of Tribeca Global Natural Resources Limited (TGF),  

I am pleased to present the Company’s financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2025. 

Financial Results and Dividend 

The Company reported a profit after tax of $5.02 million for the year ended 30 June 2025, compared 

to a loss after tax of $9.59 million for the year ended 30 June 2024. Precious Metals was the biggest 

contributor to performance, reflecting volatile markets where investors sought assets like gold that 

are perceived to be “safe havens”. Uranium and Oil and Gas positions also positively impacted the 

portfolio. Diversified and Bulks were the biggest detractors. 

Net Tangible Assets (“NTA”) 

The Company’s NTA (excluding tax) rose to $2.09 per share as of 30 June 2025 from $2.00 per 

share 12 months prior, equating to 4.47% increase in NTA. Over the same period the S&P ASX 300 

Resources Index fell 7.51%, the MSCI ACWI Commodity Producers Index fell 4.22% (in USD terms) 

and the S&P Goldman Sachs Commodities Index fell 6.09% (in USD terms). 

TGF continues to trade at a discount to NTA, despite improved portfolio performance during the 

financial year. The Board remains committed to considering any and all strategies that could close 

this gap. As such, today we are announcing two capital management initiatives – a fully franked 

dividend and a buyback program. 

Dividend and Ongoing Capital Management Program 

We are pleased to declare $0.05 per share fully franked dividend for the year ended 30 June 2025. 

This is a reflection of positive portfolio performance and generation of profit reserves during the 

financial year, and reflects our confidence in the outlook for the global resources sector. In line with 

the objective outlined in the Company’s IPO Prospectus, the Board intends to continue paying out 

dividends from retained profits when possible and prudent. 

Share Buyback Program 

The Board has approved a buyback program of up to 10% of outstanding shares. Shares will be 

purchased on-market and the program is expected to commence from 10 September 2025 and 

remain in place for up to 12 months. Given the size of the discount at which TGF is trading at 

compared to its NTA, the buy-back program will necessarily be accretive to NTA. The Directors’ view 

the buyback as an effective use of the Company’s capital that is in the interest of all shareholders. 

Investment Management Process 

In order to help shareholders better understand the differentiating characteristics of the TGF 

investment process, I would like to highlight two equity capital market investments that have positively 

contributed to performance during the financial year. 
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Investment Management Process (continued) 

Spartan Resources, as an ASX-listed precious metals company, was added to the portfolio in 2023, 

when the Investment Manager participated in a capital raising undertaken at $0.10 per share. The 

deep experience and technical knowledge of the Investment Manager identified that Spartan was an 

outstanding early-stage investment opportunity with potential to add significant value via exploration 

drilling results. This thesis played out successfully with Spartan discovering 9 million ounces of gold 

resources. In March 2025 Ramelius Resources made an offer to buy Spartan at an implied price of 

$1.78 per share and the acquisition was completed in July. Overall, the Spartan investment has 

contributed more than 6% to company returns since the original investment. 

Discovery Silver, a TSX-listed precious metals company, was also added to the portfolio in 2023. 

The Investment Manager has previous knowledge of that company’s management team and their 

outstanding track record of creating shareholder value. It was this long-held relationship with 

Discovery’s management team that enabled the Investment Manager to make a sizeable early-stage 

investment and participate in size in subsequent capital raises. In FY24/25 Discovery contributed 

5.35% to performance. 

Outlook 

After three challenging years for the resources sector, there are positive signs emerging. China’s 

shift to expansionary policies are supportive for demand, and prices of commodities crucial for energy 

transition, electrification and digitalisation are rising. This includes copper, which is trading near an 

all-time high and validates the Investment Manager’s long-held bullish view. We are seeing 

governments take increasingly urgent steps to shore up their access to critical minerals via supply 

agreements and price guarantees. At the same time, permitting challenges and a reticence by 

resources companies to invest in new production means the required supply increases are failing to 

keep up with structural demand growth. 

Board Changes 

Director Bruce Loveday has informed the Board of his intention to retire prior to the 2025 Annual 

General Meeting of the Company. Bruce has been on the Board of TGF since inception, including 

serving as Chairperson for five years. I would like to take this opportunity to publicly thank Bruce for 

his commitment to TGF over the last seven years. His counsel, guidance and deep investment 

markets experience have been critical in helping the Company navigate volatile markets. 
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Conclusion 

It is pleasing to report a profit for 2024/25. This has enabled the Board to declare a fully franked 

dividend of $0.05 per share. In addition, we have announced a buyback program of up to 10% of 

outstanding shares, which we anticipate will be accretive to NTA. 

The Board is satisfied that the Investment Manager continues to implement an investment strategy 

that is consistent with the Company’s stated objectives and that the Company is well positioned to 

continue performing as resources markets improve. 

Thank you for your continued support. 

Yours faithfully 

Rebecca O’Dwyer 

Independent Chairperson 

Sydney 

25 August 2025 
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Directors’ Report 

The Directors (the “Directors”) present their report together with the annual report of the Company 
for the year ended 30 June 2025. 

Directors 

The following persons held office as Directors during the year and up to the date of this report: 

Rebecca O’Dwyer 
Chairperson and Independent Director 

Bruce Robert Loveday 
Non-Independent Director 

Nicholas Myers 
Independent Director 

Background of the Directors 

Rebecca O’Dwyer - Chairperson, Independent Director 

Rebecca has more than 15 years of financial services experience working in Australia and UK, in 
addition to four years professional experience as a mining engineer. She worked for eight years as 
a Senior Mining Analyst with Colonial First State Global Asset Management and six years as a 
sell-side analyst covering resources equities with Morgan Stanley and Investec. Prior to this, she 
worked for Anglo American as a mining engineer. Rebecca holds a Bachelor of Engineering (Mining) 
with first class honours from University of Queensland, Master of Business Administration from 
Oxford University and Master in Data Science and Innovation from UTS. She is a graduate of the 
Australian Institute of Company Directors and CFA charterholder. Rebecca is an investor in the 
Company. No other external directorships are held with public listed companies. 

Bruce Loveday – Non-Independent Director 

Bruce Loveday has extensive experience in the financial services industry both in Australia and 
overseas. He has been CEO of several funds management businesses (in Australia and the USA) 
and has held senior executive positions in banking, mining, stockbroking, asset consulting, investor 
relations and corporate affairs management. 

Bruce was appointed as a Director of Tribeca Investment Partners Pty Ltd (a related body corporate 
of the Investment Manager) on 23 January 2024. Prior to this, for two years (ending April 2018), 
Bruce provided independent advice to the Investment Manager as a member of an advisory board 
(non-statutory role). Since April 2018, Bruce has also acted a Director of Tribeca Global Natural 
Resources Credit (Cayman) Master Fund and Feeder Fund. Bruce is also an investor in the 
Company. No other external directorships are held with public listed companies. Bruce holds a 
Bachelor of Economics from Monash University. 
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Background of the Directors (continued) 

Nicholas Myers – Independent Director 

Nick has extensive experience in the resource industry as a senior executive in a number of major 
resource companies, and is currently General Counsel of MMG Limited. Nick’s expertise is in the 
mining and infrastructure sectors and he has worked in the copper, molybdenum, iron ore, zinc gold, 
silver, lead, energy coal, titanium, and manganese commodity categories. He has advised on many 
of the legal/operational issues facing companies across the globe including in Australia, South 
America, Africa and Asia. He has played a key role in the growth of MMG Limited leading the Legal 
team in transactions such as the acquisitions of the Las Bambas Copper Project from Glencore and 
the Khoemacau Mine, and the takeover of Anvil Mining Limited. Nick is a Graduate Member of the 
Australian Institute of Company Directors, Nick is also an investor in the Company. No other external 
directorships are held with public listed companies. 

Company Secretary 

Ken Liu, Company Secretary 

Ken joined Tribeca in 2019 in the role of Compliance Manager. He brings more than 10 years risk 
and compliance management experience in financial services across funds management, equities 
and derivatives trading as well as private equity. Prior to joining Tribeca, Ken was the Compliance 
Manager at Sydney based AIMS Financial Group. In this role, he was responsible for all aspects of 
financial services licencing compliance as well as the design and implementation of the 
organisation’s internal controls and compliance management framework and procedures. Ken holds 
a Master of Commerce from Macquarie University, a Bachelor of Communication from University of 
Colorado, a Diploma of Financial Planning and ADA2 from Kaplan Professional. 

Principal activities 

The Company was established to provide investors with access to an actively managed and 
concentrated portfolio of Natural Resources Securities, Credit Positions and Commodity Positions. 

To achieve its objective, the Company has appointed Tribeca Global Resources Pty Ltd to act as 
Investment Manager. The Investment Manager’s investment strategy is an active long/short 
investment strategy that seeks to benefit from the inherent volatility in the Natural Resources Sector. 
The investment strategy employs a high conviction approach, leveraging the Investment Manager’s 
bottom-up research and specialist knowledge of the entities and commodities within the Company’s 
investible universe. 

There have been no significant changes in the nature of this activity during the year and no change 
is anticipated in the future. 

Dividends 

On 25 August 2025, the Company declared a fully franked dividend of $0.05 per share following the 
annual results. The record date for the annual dividend will be 3 September 2025. 

Further information in respect of the Company’s dividend policy is contained in the Company’s 
Prospectus which was issued on 24 August 2018 and the Dividend Re-investment Plan booklet. 

Dividend reinvestment plan 

On 25 August 2025, the Directors resolved to approve the amended dividend reinvestment plan 
(“DRP”) for shareholders. The Company invites all eligible shareholders to participate in the DRP 
subject to the rules of the DRP. 
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Dividend reinvestment plan (continued) 
 
TGF offers a dividend reinvestment plan to registered shareholders providing shareholders the 
opportunity to reinvest dividends to purchase additional TGF shares in the market, rather than 
receiving dividends as cash. Participation in the plan is optional and is subject to the terms and 
conditions of the plan, which can be found at https://tribecaip.com/lic/corporate-governance/. 
 
Review of operations 
 
The operating profit before tax was $7,049,018 for the year ended 30 June 2025 (for the year end 
30 June 2024: operating loss before tax was $14,376,243). The net result after tax was a profit of 
$5,016,143 for the year ended 30 June 2025 (for the year ended 30 June 2024: loss after tax of 
$9,589,339). 
 
The net tangible asset before tax as at 30 June 2025 was $2.0906 (30 June 2024: $2.0011) per 
share. 
 
The top performing segment for the financial year was Precious Metals, with further strong 
contributions from Uranium, and Oil and Gas. The largest detractors were Diversified and Bulks. 
 
Clearly an uncertain geo-political landscape was a contributing factor towards the strength in the 
gold price over the year. An accelerating equity capital markets environment also provided a 
favourable backdrop for alpha generation, which we expect to continue in foreseeable future. Looking 
ahead, with copper trading near all-time highs, our long-standing bullish outlook is being validated, 
and we believe copper mining equities are poised to outperform. Despite concerns around China’s 
property sector, copper demand from China is now nearing double-digit annual growth, supported by 
the global themes of energy transition, electrification, and digitalisation. Supply constraints further 
strengthen the case for an under-supplied market which we expect will take years to resolve. Rising 
trade tensions underscore the strategic importance of key commodities, reinforcing long-term pricing 
power. Governments around the world are starting to recognise the importance of commodities to 
energy independence and security, and are being spurred into action. While we expect market 
volatility to remain an enduring theme, we will continue to use market dips to build positions in 
undervalued, high-quality miners. 
 
Significant event during the year 
 
There were no significant events during the year ended 30 June 2025. 
 
Likely developments and expected results of operations 
 
The Company will continue to pursue its investment objectives for the long term benefit of 
shareholders. This will require continual review of the investment strategies that are currently in place 
and may require changes to these strategies to maximise returns. The underlying holdings of the 
Company consist of a portfolio of carefully selected global assets. The Portfolio Manager is optimistic 
about the outlook for the Company’s strategy given the opportunity set available within the 
commodities market. 
 
Environmental regulation 
 
The Company is not affected by any significant environmental regulation in respect of its operations. 
 
To the extent that any environmental regulations may have an incidental impact on the Company’s 
operations, the Directors of the Company are not aware of any breach by the Company of those 
regulations. 
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Insurance and indemnification of officers and auditors 

During or since the end of the financial year the Company has given an indemnity or entered into an 
agreement to indemnify, or paid or agreed to pay insurance premiums. 

The Company has paid premiums to insure each of the Directors to the extent permitted by the 
Corporations Act 2001, against a liability incurred in or arising out of the conduct of the business 
including, amongst other things, losses, costs and charges incurred by them in defending any legal 
proceedings arising out of their conduct while acting in the capacity of Director of the Company, other 
than conduct involving a wilful breach of duty in relation to the Company or the improper use by the 
Directors of their position. 

The contract of insurance prohibits disclosure of the nature of the liability and the amount of the 
premium. 

No indemnities have been given or insurance premiums paid during or since the end of the financial 
year, for any person who is or has been an auditor of the Company. 

Proceedings on behalf of the Company 

No person has applied to the Court under section 237 of the Corporations Act 2001 for leave to bring 
proceedings on behalf of the Company, or to intervene in any proceedings to which the Company is 
a party, for the purpose of taking responsibility on behalf of the Company for all or part of those 
proceedings. 

No proceedings have been brought or intervened in on behalf of the Company with leave of the Court 
under section 237 of the Corporations Act 2001. 

Meetings of Directors 

The number of meetings of the Company’s Board held for the year ended 30 June 2025 and the 
number of meetings attended by each Director were: 

Meetings of Directors 

Number of 
meetings 
attended 

Number of 
meetings held 

during the period 
the Director held 

office 

Number of Audit 
Risk Committee 

meetings 
attended 

Number of Audit 
Risk Committee 
meetings held 

during the period 
the Director held 

office 

Bruce Robert Loveday 5 5 2 2 

Rebecca O’Dwyer 5 5 2 2 

Nicholas Myers 5 5 2 2 

Remuneration report (Audited) 

Details of key management personnel 

Key management personnel for the year ended 30 June 2025 are those persons who are identified 
as having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the 
Company, directly or indirectly, including and Non-executive Director of the Company. 
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Remuneration report (Audited) (continued) 

Details of key management personnel (continued) 

Names and positions held by Directors and Officers of the Company in office at any time during the 
financial year are: 

Name Title Earliest appointment date Last re-election date 

Rebecca O’Dwyer Chairperson 4 January 2021 17 November 2023 

Nicholas Myers Non-executive Director 30 August 2021 22 November 2024 

Bruce Loveday Non-executive Director 18 July 2018 25 November 2022 

Directors’ remuneration 

Non-executive Directors are entitled to receive Directors’ fees of up to $150,000 per annum to be 
shared among the Directors. 

Additional remuneration may be paid in accordance with the Company’s constitution. The following 
are the Directors’ remuneration (excluding superannuation guarantee contribution) paid and payable 
for the year ending 30 June 2025 and 30 June 2024: 

Director 2025 2024 

Bruce Robert Loveday $–* $29,750 

Rebecca O’Dwyer $55,000 $53,125 

Nicholas Myers $50,000 $48,125 

* As Chair of Tribeca Investment Partners Pty Ltd, Bruce Loveday is a non-independent Director of the
Company and, as such, he is not paid a Director’s fee by the Company.

The remuneration for Directors will be reviewed by the Board on a periodic basis as the Company 
develops its business and, subject to the listing rules, may be increased. 

Under the ASX Listing Rules, the maximum fees payable to Directors may not be increased without 
approval from the Company at a general meeting. Directors will seek approval from time to time as 
appropriate. Directors do not receive any retirement benefits or annual and long service leave. All 
remuneration paid to Directors is borne by the Company and expensed where appropriate in 
accordance with accounting standards. During the financial year and at present, no employee share 
or option arrangements are in existence for the Company’s Directors. As the Company does not pay 
performance based fees to the Directors, nor provide share or option schemes to Directors, 
remuneration is not explicitly linked to the Company’s performance. For the years ended 30 June 
2025 and 30 June 2024, no Directors received any non-monetary benefits. 

Notwithstanding this, the Board members are subject to ongoing performance monitoring and regular 
performance reviews. 

Tribeca Global Resources Pty Ltd earned $2,335,991 (2024: $2,453,730) in management fees and 
$Nil (2024: $Nil) in performance fees for the investment advisory services provided to the Company. 
Please refer to details in Note 13.
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Remuneration report (Audited) (continued) 

Equity instrument disclosures relating to Directors 

As at the date of this report, the Company’s Directors and their related parties held the following 
interests in the Company: 

Balance as Balance as 

at 30 June at 30 June 

2024 Acquisitions Disposals 2025* 

Director 

Bruce Robert Loveday Indirect – 237,500 – – Indirect – 237,500 

Rebecca O’Dwyer 
Direct – 41,003 

Indirect – 55,353 – – 
Direct – 41,003 

Indirect – 55,353 

Nicholas Myers Direct – 62,500 – – Direct – 62,500 

Total 396,356 – – 396,356 

* Accurate as at the date of signing of the Directors’ Report.

Events subsequent to the end of the reporting date 

The Directors are not aware of any other matter or circumstance not otherwise dealt with in this 
financial report that has significantly or may significantly affect the Company’s operations, the results 
of those operations or the Company’s state of affairs in future years. 

Audit and Non-audit services 

Details of the amounts paid or payable to Ernst & Young for audit and non-audit services provided 
during the year are set out in Note 17 to the financial statements on page 58 of this report. 

The Directors are satisfied that the provision of the non-audit services is compatible with the general 
standard of independence for auditors imposed by the Corporations Act 2001. The nature and scope 
of each type of non-audit service provided means that auditor independence was not compromised. 

Auditor’s independence declaration 

A copy of the auditor’s independence declaration as required under section 307C of the Corporations 
Act 2001 is set out on page 12. 

This report is made in accordance with a resolution of the Directors. 

Rebecca O’Dwyer 
Independent Chairperson 
Sydney 
25 August 2025 
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For the For the 

year ended year ended 

30 June 30 June 

2025 2024 

Note $ $ 

Investment income/(loss) 

Net changes in fair value of financial assets and 

 liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 16,102,149 (6,028,740) 

Interest income from financial assets at fair value 

 through profit or loss 86,077 547,648 

Interest income from financial assets at amortised 

 cost 1,822,397 746,348 

Dividend income 2,216,167 2,321,541 

Other income – 15,157

Total investment income/(loss) 20,226,790 (2,398,046) 

Expenses 

Bank and broker expenses 5,480,676 3,411,740 

Interest on margin held at broker 4,284,344 5,101,702 

Management fees 13 2,355,991 2,453,730 

Dividends on securities held short 206,032 105,853 

Professional fees 154,589 135,615 

Directors’ fees 13 105,000 138,542 

Audit fees 17 77,000 79,731 

Administration fees 89,719 86,186 

Other expenses 15 424,421 465,098 

Total expenses 13,177,772 11,978,197 

Profit/(loss) before income tax 7,049,018 (14,376,243) 

Income tax (expense)/benefit 14 (2,032,875)  4,786,904 

Net profit/(loss) after income tax 5,016,143 (9,589,339) 

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the 

year 5,016,143 (9,589,339) 

Earnings/(losses) per share for profit 

attributable to the ordinary equity holders 

 of the Company: 

Basic earnings/(losses) per share 12 0.06 (0.12) 

Diluted earnings/(losses) per share 12 0.06 (0.12) 
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   30 June   30 June 

   2025   2024 

 Note  $   $ 

Assets  

  

Current assets  

Cash at bank  5,846,868 23,042,050 

Amounts due from brokers 10 71,148,159 19,095,215 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 3(b) 158,303,280 182,159,068 

Manager Loan 13 352,726 352,726 

Trade and other receivables  491,629 377,854 

Current tax assets 14(d) – 110,051 

Prepayments  48,443 86,017 

Total current assets  236,191,105 225,222,981 

    

Non-current assets    

Deferred tax asset 14(c) 11,994,148 14,027,023 

Manager Loan 13 29,394 382,121 

Total non-current assets  12,023,542 14,409,144 

    

Total assets  248,214,647 239,632,125 

    

Liabilities    

    

Current liabilities    

Amounts due to brokers 10 72,063,197 74,639,480 

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or 

 loss 3(b) 6,386,041 – 

Trade and other payables 9 515,894 759,657 

Current tax liabilities 14(d) 384 – 

    

    

Total liabilities  78,965,516 75,399,137 

    

Net assets  169,249,131 164,232,988 

    

Equity    

Issued capital  187,825,716 187,825,716 

Accumulated losses  (18,576,585) (23,592,728) 

    

Total equity  169,249,131 164,232,988 

    

Total liabilities and equity  248,214,647 239,632,125 
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   Issued   Accumulated   Total 

   Capital   losses   Equity 

 Note  $   $   $ 

       

Balance as at 1 July 2024  187,825,716  (23,592,728)  164,232,988 

       

Net profit after income tax  –  5,016,143  5,016,143 

Other comprehensive income  –  –  – 

Total comprehensive income  –  5,016,143  5,016,143 

       

Balance as at 30 June 2025  187,825,716  (18,576,585)  169,249,131 

 

 

 

 

 

   Issued   Accumulated   Total 

   Capital   losses   Equity 

 Note  $   $   $ 

       

Balance as at 1 July 2023  187,452,357  (10,074,422)  177,377,935 

       

Net loss after income tax  –  (9,589,339)  (9,589,339) 

Other comprehensive income  –  –  – 

Total comprehensive loss  –  (9,589,339)  (9,589,339) 

       

Dividend distribution  –  (3,928,967)  (3,928,967) 

       

Transactions with owners in their       

 capacity as owners       

Shares issued 11 373,359  –  373,359 

       

Balance as at 30 June 2024  187,825,716  (23,592,728)  164,232,988 
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   For the   For the 

   year ended   year ended 

   30 June   30 June 

   2025   2024 

 Note  $   $ 

Cash flows from operating activities    

Proceeds from sale of financial instruments    

 at fair value through profit or loss  247,813,306 380,691,104 

Purchase of financial instruments at fair    

 value through profit or loss  (254,532,162) (348,688,292) 

Dividends received  2,146,048 2,199,735 

Interest income received  1,864,016 1,328,819 

Other income received  – 15,157 

Interest paid  (4,542,645) (5,229,928) 

Dividends paid on securities sold short  (203,796) (105,853) 

Brokerage fees paid  (5,480,676) (3,411,740) 

Management fees paid  (2,346,286) (2,478,418) 

Administration fees paid  (89,403) (102,348) 

Other expenses paid  (257,191) (134,647) 

     
Net cash flows (used in)/from operating 

 activities 8 (15,628,789)  24,083,589 

     
Cash flows from financing activities     

Distributions paid to shareholders  –  (3,555,608) 

     
Net cash flows used in financing activities  –  (3,555,608) 

     

Net (decrease)/increase in cash at bank  (15,628,789)  20,527,981 

     
Effects of foreign currency exchange rate changes     

 on cash at bank  (1,566,393)  904,130 

     
Cash at bank at beginning of year  23,042,050  1,609,939 

     

Cash at bank at end of year  5,846,868  23,042,050 

     
Significant non-cash transactions:     

     
Management fees offset against manager loan 13 352,726  352,726 

Dividends reinvested  –  373,359 
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1. Corporate information and summary of material accounting policy information 
 
The financial statements of Tribeca Global Natural Resources Limited (the “Company”) as of  
30 June 2025 and for the year ended 30 June 2025 were authorised for issue in accordance with a 
resolution of the Directors on 25 August 2025. The Directors have the power to amend the financial 
report. 
 
The Company is a for-profit entity limited by shares, incorporated and domiciled in Australia, whose 
shares are publicly traded on the Australian Securities Exchange (“ASX”). 
 
The Company was registered with the Australian Securities and Investments Commission (“ASIC”) 
on 18 July 2018 and commenced operations on 12 October 2018, following its successful listing on 
the ASX. 
 
The Company has been established to provide investors with access to an actively managed and 
concentrated portfolio of natural resources securities, credit positions and commodity positions. 
 
The Company is managed by Tribeca Global Resources Pty Ltd (the “Investment Manager”). 
 
The Investment Manager’s investment strategy is an active long/short investment strategy that seeks 
to benefit from the inherent volatility in the natural resources sector. 
 
The Company’s registered office is Level 23, 1 O’Connell Street, Sydney NSW 2000, Australia. 
 
Basis of preparation 
 
These general purpose financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the 
Corporations Act 2001, Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations of the Australian 
Accounting Standards Board (“AASB”) and International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as 
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”). Material accounting policies 
adopted in the preparation of these financial statements are presented below and have been 
consistently applied unless stated otherwise. 
 
Except for cash flow information, the financial statements have been prepared on an accruals basis. 
The financial statements have also been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for financial 
assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss that have been measured at fair value. 
 
Assets and liabilities with recovery or settlement within 12 months after the reporting date and more 
than 12 months after the reporting date are presented in the statement of financial position. 
 
Basis of consolidation 
 
The Company is an investment entity; therefore, it holds its investments in subsidiaries at fair value 
rather than consolidating them. Investments in subsidiaries are classified at fair value through profit 
or loss in accordance with AASB 10 Consolidated Financial Statements. 
 
Investments in subsidiaries: In accordance with the exceptions under AASB 10 Consolidated 
Financial Statements, the Company does not consolidate subsidiaries in the financial statements 
unless the subsidiary is not itself an investment entity and its main purpose and activities are 
providing services that relate to the Company’s investment activities. The Company measures 
unconsolidated subsidiaries at fair value through profit or loss. 
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1. Corporate information and summary of material accounting policy information 
(continued) 

 
Basis of consolidation (continued) 
 
i) Judgements 
 
Entities that meet the definition of an investment entity within AASB 10 are required to measure their 
subsidiaries at fair value through profit or loss rather than consolidate them. The criteria which define 
an investment entity are, as follows: 
 
 An entity that obtains funds from one or more investors for the purpose of providing those 

investors with investment managements services. 
 

 An entity that commits to its investors that its business purpose is to invest funds solely for 
return from capital appreciation, investments income, or both. 
 

 An entity that measures and evaluates the performance of substantially all of its investments 
on a fair value basis. 
 

The absence of one or more of these typical characteristics does not necessarily disqualify an entity 
from being classified as an investment entity but indicates that additional judgement is required in 
determining whether the entity is an investment entity. 
 
Financial instruments – initial recognition and subsequent measurement 
 
A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial 
liability or equity instrument of another entity. 
 
i) Financial assets 
 
Initial recognition and measurement 
 
Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, and subsequently measured at amortised cost 
or fair value through profit or loss. 
 
The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on the financial asset’s contractual 
cash flow characteristics and the Company’s business model for managing them. With the exception 
of trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing component or for which the Company 
has applied the practical expedient, the Company initially measures a financial asset at its fair value 
plus, in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs. 
 
In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at amortised cost it needs to give rise to 
cash flows that are ‘solely payments of principal and interest’ on the principal amount outstanding. 
 
The Company’s business model for managing financial assets refers to how it manages its financial 
assets in order to generate cash flows. The business model determines whether cash flows will result 
from collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both. 
 
Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within a timeframe established 
by regulation or convention in the market place (regular way trades) are recognised on the trade 
date, i.e., the date that the Company commits to purchase or sell the asset. 
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1. Corporate information and summary of material accounting policy information 
(continued) 

 
Financial instruments – initial recognition and subsequent measurement (continued) 
 
i) Financial assets (continued) 
 
Subsequent measurement 
 
For purposes of subsequent measurement, financial assets are classified in one of two categories: 
 
 Financial assets at amortised cost 
 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 
 
Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments and trade receivables) 
 
The Company measures financial assets at amortised cost if both of the following conditions are met: 
 
 The financial asset is held within a business model with the objective to hold financial assets 

in order to collect contractual cash flows; and 
 The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that 

are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 
 
Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using the effective interest method 
and are subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is 
derecognised, modified or impaired. 
 
The Company’s financial assets at amortised cost includes cash at bank, amounts due from brokers, 
manager loan and trade and other receivables. 
 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 
 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the statement of financial position 
at fair value with net changes in fair value recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income. 
 
Net gains or losses on financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are changes 
in the fair value of financial assets and liabilities held for trading or designated upon initial recognition 
as at fair value through profit or loss and exclude interest and dividend income and expenses.  
 
Unrealised gains and losses comprise changes in the fair value of financial instruments for the period 
and from reversal of the prior period’s unrealised gains and losses for financial instruments which 
were realised in the reporting period. Realised gains and losses on disposals of financial instruments 
classified as at fair value through profit or loss are calculated using the first-in, first-out (FIFO) 
method. They represent the difference between an instrument’s initial carrying amount and disposal 
amount, or cash payments or receipts made on derivative contracts (excluding payments or receipts 
on collateral margin accounts for such instruments). 
 
This category includes listed equity securities, debt securities, unlisted unit trusts and derivative 
instruments. 
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1. Corporate information and summary of material accounting policy information 
(continued) 

 
Financial instruments – initial recognition and subsequent measurement (continued) 
 
i) Financial assets (continued) 
 
Derecognition 
 
A financial asset is primarily derecognised when: 
 
 The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or 
 The Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed 

an obligation to pay the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party 
under a ‘pass-through’ arrangement; and either (a) the Company has transferred 
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Company has neither 
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has 
transferred control of the asset. 

 
When the Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into 
a pass-through arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risks and rewards 
of ownership. When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all of the risks and rewards 
of the asset, nor transferred control of the asset, the Company continues to recognise the transferred 
asset to the extent of its continuing involvement. In that case, the Company also recognises an 
associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are measured on a basis that 
reflects the rights and obligations that the Company has retained. 
 
Impairment of financial assets 
 
The Company recognises an allowance for expected credit losses (“ECLs”) for all debt instruments 
not held at fair value through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual 
cash flows due in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Company expects to 
receive, discounted at an approximation of the original effective interest rate. The expected cash 
flows will include cash flows from the sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are 
integral to the contractual terms. 
 
ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which there has not been a significant 
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from 
default events that are possible within the next 12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit 
exposures for which there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss 
allowance is required for credit losses expected over the remaining life of the exposure (a lifetime 
ECL). 
 
The Company considers a financial asset in default when contractual payments are 90 days past 
due. However, in certain cases, the Company may also consider a financial asset to be in default 
when internal or external information indicates that the Company is unlikely to receive the 
outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking into account any credit enhancements held by 
the Company. A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovering 
the contractual cash flows. 
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1. Corporate information and summary of material accounting policy information 
(continued) 

 
Financial instruments – initial recognition and subsequent measurement (continued) 
 
ii) Financial liabilities 
 
Initial recognition and measurement 
 
Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial liabilities at fair value through profit 
or loss or amortised cost, as appropriate. All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value 
and, in the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly attributable transaction costs. 
 
The Company’s financial liabilities include amounts due to brokers, derivative instruments and trade 
and other payables. 
 
Subsequent measurement 
 
The measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification, as described below: 
 
Financial liabilities at amortised cost 
 
The Company measures financial liabilities at amortised cost if both of the following conditions are 
met: 
 
 The financial liability is held within a business model with the objective is to hold financial 

liabilities in order to collect contractual cash flows; and 
 The contractual terms of the financial liability give rise on specified dates to cash flows that 

are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 
 
Financial liabilities at amortised cost are subsequently measured using the effective interest method. 
Interest expense and foreign exchange gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain or 
loss on derecognition is also recognised in profit or loss. 
 
The Company’s financial liabilities at amortised cost includes amounts due to brokers and trade and 
other payables. 
 
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 
 
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include financial liabilities held for trading and 
financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss. 
 
Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they are incurred for the purpose of 
repurchasing in the near term. This category includes short listed equities and derivative financial 
instruments entered into by the Company that are not designated as hedging instruments in hedge 
relationships as defined by AASB 9 Financial Instruments (“AASB 9”). Separated embedded 
derivatives are also classified as held for trading unless they are designated as effective hedging 
instruments. 
 
Gains or losses on liabilities held for trading are recognised in the statement of profit or loss and 
other comprehensive income excluding interest and dividend income and expenses. 
 
Financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition at fair value through profit or loss are 
designated at the initial date of recognition, and only if the criteria in AASB 9 are satisfied. 
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1. Corporate information and summary of material accounting policy information 
(continued) 

 
Financial instruments – initial recognition and subsequent measurement (continued) 
 
ii) Financial liabilities (continued) 
 
Derecognition 
 
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled 
or expires. When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on 
substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an 
exchange or modification is treated as the derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of 
a new liability. The difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognised in the statement of 
profit or loss and comprehensive income. 
 
iii) Offsetting of financial instruments 
 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the statement of 
financial position if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and 
there is an intention to settle on a net basis, to realise the assets and settle the liabilities 
simultaneously. 
 
Functional and presentation currency 
 
The functional currency is the currency of the primary economic environment in which the Company 
operates. The majority of the Company’s income is Australian dollar-based, the capital is raised in 
Australian dollar (“AUD” or “$”), the performance is evaluated and its liquidity is managed in $. 
Therefore, the Company concludes that the $ is its functional currency. 
 
The Company’s presentation currency is also the $. 
 
Foreign currency translations 
 
Transactions during the year, including purchases and sales of securities, income and expenses, are 
translated at the rate of exchange prevailing on the date of the transaction. 
 
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the functional 
currency spot rate of exchange ruling at the reporting date. 
 
Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated 
using the exchange rates as at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured 
at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair 
value was determined. 

 
Foreign currency transaction gains and losses on financial instruments classified as at fair value 
through profit or loss are included in profit or loss in the statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income as part of the ‘Net changes in fair value of financial assets and liabilities at 
fair value through profit or loss’. 
 
Income tax 
 
The income tax expense/(benefit) for the year comprises current income tax expense/(benefit) and 
deferred tax expense/(benefit). 
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1. Corporate information and summary of material accounting policy information
(continued)

Income tax (continued) 

Current income tax expense charged to profit or loss is the tax payable on taxable income. Current 
tax liabilities/(assets) are measured at the amounts expected to be paid to/(recovered from) the 
relevant taxation authority. 

Deferred income tax expense reflects movements in deferred tax asset and deferred tax liability 
balances during the year as well as unused tax losses. 

Current and deferred income tax expense/(benefit) is charged or credited outside profit or loss when 
the tax relates to items that are recognised outside profit or loss. 

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable 
profit will be available against which the losses can be utilised. Significant management judgement 
is required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based upon the 
likely timing and the level of future taxable profits, together with future tax planning strategies. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the 
year when the asset is realised or the liability is settled and their measurement also reflects the 
manner in which management expects to recover or settle the carrying amount of the related asset 
or liability. 

Deferred tax assets relating to temporary differences and unused tax losses are recognised only to 
the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the benefits of 
the deferred tax asset can be utilised. 

Current tax assets and liabilities are offset where a legally enforceable right of set-off exists and it is 
intended that net settlement or simultaneous realisation and settlement of the respective asset and 
liability will occur. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset where: (a) a legally enforceable right 
of set-off exists; and (b) the deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the 
same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities where it is 
intended that net settlement or simultaneous realisation and settlement of the respective asset and 
liability will occur in future years in which significant amounts of deferred tax assets or liabilities are 
expected to be recovered or settled. 

Goods and Services Tax (“GST”) 

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, unless GST incurred is 
not recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office (“ATO”). In this case it is recognised as part of 
the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense. The Company qualifies for Reduced 
Input Tax Credits (“RITC”) at a rate of at least 55%. Hence, fees for these services and other 
expenses have been recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income 
net of the amount of GST recoverable from the ATO. 

Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST receivable or payable. The net 
amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the tax authority is included in other receivables or 
other payables in the statement of financial position. 
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1. Corporate information and summary of material accounting policy information
(continued)

Interest income and expense 

Interest income and expense for financial instruments measured at amortised cost are recognised in 
the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for all interest-bearing financial 
instruments using the effective interest method. 

Interest income and expenses for financial instruments measured at fair value through profit or loss 
are recognised separately in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income and 
arises from financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss such as debt 
securities and derivatives. Interest income are recognised based on the interest stated in the loan 
agreement while interest expense are recorded based on the interest from broker report. 

Dividend income and expense 

Dividend income is recognised on the date when the Company’s right to receive the payment is 
established. Dividend income relating to exchange-traded equity instruments is recognised in the 
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income on the ex-dividend date with any related 
foreign withholding tax deducted as an expense. Dividend equivalent expense relating to equity 
securities sold short is recognised when the shareholders’ right to receive the payment is 
established. 

Cash at bank 

Cash at bank includes cash on hand and deposits held at call with financial institutions. 

Amounts due from/to brokers 

While the amounts due from brokers are highly liquid, due to their restrictions, they have not been 
classified as cash at bank. 

Amounts due from and due to brokers include receivables for securities sold, margin amounts, 
collateral, encumbered cash and payables for securities purchased that have been contracted for, 
but not yet delivered, on the reporting date. 

Prepayments 

Prepayments represent expenses paid in advance by the Company. They are deferred and 
amortised to expenses in the year which they are incurred. 

Issued capital 

Ordinary shares will be classified as equity. Costs directly attributable to the issue of ordinary shares 
will be recognised as a deduction from equity, net of any tax effects. 

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



Tribeca Global Natural Resources Limited 
Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 

For the year ended 30 June 2025 

 

 
 

 
- 25 - 

1. Corporate information and summary of material accounting policy information 
(continued) 

 
Earnings per share 
 
Basic and diluted earnings per share 
 
(i) Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing: 
 

- the profit attributable to owners of the Company, excluding any costs of servicing equity other 

than ordinary shares; and 

- by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial year, 

adjusted for bonus elements in ordinary shares issued during the year and excluding treasury 

shares. 

 
(ii) Diluted earnings per share 
 
Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the determination of basic earnings per share 
to take into account: 
 

- the after income tax effect of interest and other financing costs associated with dilutive potential 

ordinary shares; and 

- the weighted average number of additional ordinary shares that would have been outstanding 

assuming the conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares. 
 
Comparative revisions 
 
Comparative information has been revised where appropriate to enhance comparability. Where 
necessary, comparative figures have been adjusted to conform with changes in presentation in the 
current year. 
 
New Standard effective and adopted 
 
There are no standards, interpretations or amendments to existing standards that are effective for 
the first time for the financial year beginning 1 July 2024 have a material impact on the amounts 
recognised in the prior periods or will affect the current or future periods. 
 
Standards issued but not yet effective 
 
AASB 18 – Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements 
 
The AASB has issued AASB 18 to improve how entities communicate in their financial statements, 
with a particular focus on information about financial performance in the statement of profit or loss. 
 
The key presentation and disclosure requirements established by AASB 18 are: 
 

- the presentation of newly defined subtotals in the statement of profit or loss; 

- the disclosure of management-defined performance measures; and 

- enhanced requirements for grouping information (i.e. aggregation and disaggregation). 
 
These new requirements will enable investors and other financial statement users to make more 
informed decisions, including better allocations of capital, that will contribute to long-term financial 
stability. 
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1. Corporate information and summary of material accounting policy information 
(continued) 

 
Standards issued but not yet effective (continued) 
 
AASB 18 will replace AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements. 
 
For for-profit entities (other than superannuation entities applying AASB 1056 Superannuation 
Entities) preparing Tier 1 general purpose financial statements, AASB 18 applies to annual reporting 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027, with earlier application permitted.  
 
AASB 18 incorporates IFRS 18 and makes consequential amendments to most of the AASB 
pronouncements. 
 
The Company is currently assessing the impact of the new standards in the Company’s financial 
statements. 
 
There are no other new standards and amendments to existing standards that are not yet effective 
for the year ended 30 June 2025 that would be expected to have a significant impact in the 
Company’s financial statements. 
 
 
2. Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions 
 
The preparation of the Company’s financial statements requires management to make judgements, 
estimates and assumptions as described in Note 3, that affect the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial statements. Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes 
that could require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of the asset or liability affected in the 
future years. 
 
Income Taxes 
 
The Company has recognised deferred tax assets of $11,994,148 (2024: $14,027,023) relating to 
current year tax losses and unrealised losses on investments of $39,980,493 at 30 June 2025 
(2024: $46,756,743). The utilisation of tax losses depends on the ability of the Company to generate 
future taxable profits. The Company considers that it is probable that future taxable profits will be 
available to utilise those deferred tax assets. 
 
AASB Interpretation 23 Uncertainty over income tax treatments (“AASB 23”) provides clarification 
on how to apply recognition and measurement requirements when there is uncertainty over income 
tax treatments. Under AASB 23, if an entity concludes that it is probable that the tax authority will 
accept an uncertain tax treatment, the entity shall determine its accounting for income taxes 
consistently with that tax treatment. If an entity concludes that it is not probable that the treatment 
will be accepted, the entity shall reflect the effect of the uncertainty in its income tax accounting in 
the period in which that determination is made. An entity shall reflect the effect of uncertainty for each 
uncertain tax treatment by using either the most likely amount method or the expected value method, 
depending on which method the entity expects to best predict the resolution of the uncertainty. As at 
30 June 2025 and 30 June 2024, there is no material uncertainty relating to any tax treatments. 
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3. Fair value measurements 
 
Fair value measurement of financial instruments 
 
When the fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in the statement of financial 
position cannot be measured based on quoted prices in active markets, their fair value is measured 
using valuation techniques including the discounted cash flow model. The inputs to these models 
are taken from observable markets where possible, but where this is not feasible, a degree of 
judgement is required in establishing fair values. Judgements include considerations of inputs such 
as liquidity risk, credit risk and volatility. Changes in assumptions relating to these factors could affect 
the reported fair value of financial instruments. 
 
(a) Fair value estimation 
 
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is 
based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place 
either in the principal market for the asset or liability or, in the absence of a principal market, in the 
most advantageous market for the asset or liability. The principal or the most advantageous market 
must be accessible to the Company. The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the 
assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that 
market participants act in their economic best interest. 
 
The fair value for financial instruments traded in active markets at the reporting date is based on their 
quoted price (bid price for long positions and ask price for short positions), without any deduction for 
transaction costs. 

 
For all other financial instruments not traded in an active market, the fair value is determined using 
valuation techniques deemed to be appropriate in the circumstances. Valuation techniques include 
the market approach (i.e., using recent arm’s length market transactions, adjusted as necessary, and 
reference to the current market value of another instrument that is substantially the same) and the 
income approach (i.e., discounted cash flow analysis and option pricing models making use of 
available and supportable market data). 
 
For assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis, the Company identifies 
transfers between levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing the categorisation (based on the lowest 
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole), and deems transfers to have 
occurred at the beginning of each reporting year. 
 
(b) Fair value hierarchy 
 
AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement requires the disclosure of fair value information using a fair value 
hierarchy reflecting the significance of the inputs in making the measurements. The fair value 
hierarchy consists of the following levels: 
 
 Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1); 
 Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or 

liability, either directly (as prices) or indirectly (derived from prices) (Level 2); and 
 Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable 

inputs) (Level 3). 
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3. Fair value measurements (continued) 
 
Fair value measurement of financial instruments (continued) 
 
(b) Fair value hierarchy (continued) 
 
The following tables present the Company’s assets and liabilities measured and recognised at fair 
value as at 30 June 2025 and 30 June 2024. 
 

2025  Level 1   Level 2   Level 3   Total 

  $   $   $   $ 

Financial assets at fair value 

 through profit or loss        

Equity securities 136,256,430  –  1,411,583  137,668,013 

Debt securities –  –  1,312,543  1,312,543 

Unlisted unit trusts –  –  19,103,666  19,103,666 

Derivative financial 

 instruments 15,139  –  203,919  219,058 

        
Total financial assets 136,271,569  –  22,031,711  158,303,280 

 

Financial liabilities at fair 

 value through profit or loss        

Equity securities (6,386,041)  –  –  (6,386,041) 

        
Total financial liabilities (6,386,041)  –  –  (6,386,041) 

 

2024  Level 1   Level 2   Level 3   Total 

  $   $   $   $ 

Financial assets at fair value 

 through profit or loss        

Equity securities 157,666,414  –  1,968,274  159,634,688 

Debt securities –  –  1,919,225  1,919,225 

Unlisted unit trusts –  –  19,434,952  19,434,952 

Derivative financial 

 instruments 52,307  1,117,896  –  1,170,203 

        
Total financial assets 157,718,721  1,117,896  23,322,451  182,159,068 

 
There were no transfers between levels during the year ended 30 June 2025 and 30 June 2024. 
 
The Company’s policy is to recognise transfers into and transfers out of fair value hierarchy levels as 
at the beginning of the reporting year. 
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3. Fair value measurements (continued) 
 
Fair value measurement of financial instruments (continued) 
 
(b) Fair value hierarchy (continued) 
 
Valuation techniques 
 
When fair values of publicly traded equity securities are based on quoted market prices in an active 
market for identical assets without any adjustments, the instruments are included within Level 1 of the 
hierarchy. 
 
In the absence of a quoted price in an active market, managed funds and derivatives are valued using 
observable inputs such as recent transactions, the market price of underlying investment, forward rates 
and recently quoted prices from the issuer or comparable issuers. Adjustments are made to the 
valuations when necessary to recognise differences in the instrument’s terms. When the significant 
inputs are observable, the Company categorises these investments as Level 2. 

 
For all other financial instruments not traded in an active market, the fair value is determined using 
valuation techniques deemed to be appropriate in the circumstances. Valuation techniques include the 
market approach (i.e., using recent market transactions, adjusted as necessary, and reference to the 
current market value of another instrument that is substantially the same) and the income approach 
(i.e., discounted cash flow analysis and option pricing models making as much use of available and 
observable market data as possible). For its unlisted unit trusts, net asset value (“NAV”) approach is 
used as the valuation method. The fair value is determined using the underlying fund’s NAV as 
provided by the respective fund’s fund administrator. The Company categorises these investments as 
Level 3. 
 
The Company held fourteen (30 June 2024: seven) Level 3 positions at year end of which eleven 
(30 June 2024: six) were fair valued externally by independent valuers, two (30 June 2024: Nil) were 
fair valued based on the underlying fund’s NAV and one (30 June 2024: one) held at cost. The 
Investment Manager has reviewed the reasonableness of Level 3 valuations and is satisfied that it fairly 
represents the values of the assets held by the Company as at 30 June 2025. 
 
The changes in investments measured at fair value for which the Company has classified as having 
significant Level 3 inputs to determine fair value are as follows: 
 

  30 June   30 June 

  2025   2024 

  $   $ 

    

Beginning value 23,322,451  40,500,941 

Purchases 16,862,630  2,352,116 

Sales (18,420,915)  (1,422,878) 

Realised loss (20,383,852)  (91,782) 

Unrealised gain/(loss) 20,651,397  (18,015,946) 

    

Ending value 22,031,711  23,322,451 
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3. Fair value measurements (continued) 
 
Fair value measurement of financial instruments (continued) 
 
(b) Fair value hierarchy (continued) 
 
Valuation techniques (continued) 
 
Quantitative information regarding the valuation techniques and significant unobservable inputs used 
for the Company’s investments that are categorised within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy are as 
follows: 
 

  Fair value     

  as at     

  30 June     

  2025   Valuation   Unobservable  

  $   technique   input 

Description      

Unlisted unit trusts 16,450,293  

 NAV 

 approach  

 Unit price - 

 $1.16 

 2,653,373  

 NAV 

 approach  

 Unit price - 

 $0.23 

Unlisted equity securities 1,077,595  

 Price of recent 

 investment  

 Transaction 

 price - $5.26 

 129,065  

 Market 

 approach  

 Comparable 

 Company 

multiple - $0.80 

 63,044   NAV approach  

 Unit price - 

 $0.03 

 141,879   NAV approach  

 Unit price - 

 $0.77 

Unlisted debt securities 933,831  

 Market 

 approach  

 Coupon rate -  

 8.00% 

 378,712  

 Market 

 approach  

 Coupon rate -  

 12.00% 

Warrants 203,919  

 Option pricing 

 model  

 Exercise 

 price - $1.10 

      

Total 22,031,711     
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3. Fair value measurements (continued)

Fair value measurement of financial instruments (continued) 

(b) Fair value hierarchy (continued)

Valuation techniques (continued) 

Fair value 

as at 

30 June 

2024 Valuation  Unobservable 

$ technique input 

Description 

Unlisted unit trusts 14,434,124 

NAV 

approach 

Unit price - 

$1.02 

4,240,545 

NAV 

approach 

Unit price - 

$0.33 

760,283 

NAV 

approach 

Unit price - 

$27.24 

Unlisted equity securities 1,352,116 

 Price of recent 

investment 

Transaction 

price - $6.60 

500,000 

 Price of recent 

investment 

Transaction 

price - $0.23 

116,158 

 Price of recent 

investment 

Transaction 

price - $1.35 

Unlisted debt securities 1,919,225 

Binomial 

 Option Pricing 

Model 

Implied yield - 

11.12% 

Total 23,322,451 
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3. Fair value measurements (continued) 
 
Fair value measurement of financial instruments (continued) 
 
(b) Fair value hierarchy (continued) 
 
Sensitivity analysis to significant changes in unobservable inputs within Level 3 hierarchy 
 
The significant unobservable inputs used in the fair value measurement categorised within Level 3 of 
the fair value hierarchy together with a quantitative sensitivity analysis as at 30 June 2025 is as shown 
below: 
 

30 June 2025  Unobservable   Sensitivity    Effect  

  input   used   on fair value 

Description      $ 

      

Unlisted unit trusts  Unit price   +/-10%  +/-1,645,029 

  Unit price   +/-10%  +/-265,337 

Unlisted equity securities 

 Transaction 

 price   +/-10%  +/-107,760 

 

 Comparable 

 Company 

 multiple   +/-10%  +/-12,907 

 

 Unit 

 price   +/-10%  +/-6,304 

 

 Unit 

 price   +/-10%  +/- 14,188 

Unlisted debt securities  Coupon rate   +/-10%  +/- 93,383 

  Coupon rate   +/-10%  +/- 37,871 

Warrants  Exercise price   +/-10%  +/-20,392 
 

30 June 2024  Unobservable   Sensitivity    Effect  

  input   used   on fair value 

Description      $ 

      

Unlisted unit trusts  Unit price   +/-10%  +/-1,443,412 

  Unit price   +/-10%  +/-424,054 

  Unit price   +/-10%  +/-76,028 

Unlisted equity securities 

 Transaction 

 price   +/-10%  +/-135,212 

 

 Transaction 

 price   +/-10%  +/-50,000 

 

 Transaction 

 price   +/-10%  +/-11,616 

Unlisted debt securities 

 Implied  

 yield   +/-10%  +/-191,923 
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4. Derivative Contracts 
 
Typically, derivatives serve as a component of the Company’s investment strategy and are utilised 
primarily to structure the portfolio or individual investments to economically match the investment 
objective of the Company. 
 
Option contracts 
 
Option contracts are derivative financial instruments that give the buyer, in exchange for a premium 
payment, the right, but not the obligation, to either purchase from (call option) or sell to (put option) 
the writer a specified underlying instrument at a specified price on or before a specified date. The 
Company enters into option contracts to meet the requirements of its risk management and trading 
activities. Any realised and unrealised gains and losses are included in net changes in fair value of 
financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss in the statement of profit or loss and 
other comprehensive income. The total notional amount of option contracts outstanding as at 
30 June 2025 amounts to $600,262 (2024: $2,850,066). 
 
Swap agreements 
 
Swap agreements (“swaps”) represent agreements that obligate two parties to exchange a series of 
cash flows at specified intervals based upon, or calculated by reference to, changes in specified 
prices or rates for a specified amount of an underlying asset or otherwise determined notional 
amount. The payment flows are usually netted against each other, with the difference being paid by 
one party to the other. Therefore, amounts required for the future satisfaction of the swap may be 
greater or less than the amount recorded. The realised gain/loss depends upon the prices at which 
the underlying financial instruments of the swap is valued at the swaps settlement date and is 
included in net changes in fair value of financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or 
loss in the statement of profit or loss and comprehensive income. Swaps, which are not dealt in or 
traded through a clearing firm or an exchange, will be valued on the basis of the latest available 
counterparty valuation. The total notional amount of equity swaps outstanding as at 30 June 2025 
amounts to $21,365,552 (2024: $11,417,167). 
 
Warrants 
 
A warrant is a derivative security that gives the holder the right to purchase securities from the issuer 
at a specific price within a certain timeframe. Warrants which are traded on an active market are 
valued at the quoted price. The Company may purchase warrants to take opportunities to increase 
returns on the price movements of the financial instrument underlying the warrant, or for use as an 
economic hedge against certain equity positions held in the Company’s portfolio holdings. The 
Company purchases warrants through listed markets and some are part of debt securities 
purchased. Warrants purchased by the Company provide the Company with the opportunity to 
purchase the underlying asset at an agreed-upon value either on (European style) or at any time 
before (American style) the expiration of the warrant. The total notional amount of warrants 
outstanding as at 30 June 2025 amounts to $1,386,617 (2024: $Nil). 
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4. Derivative Contracts (continued)

The Company’s derivative financial instruments at year end are detailed below: 

30 June 2025 Contract/ Fair values 

Notional Assets   Liabilities 

$ $ $ 

Equity options 600,262 15,139 – 

Equity swaps 21,365,552 – – 

Warrants 1,386,617 203,919 – 

Total derivatives 23,352,431 219,058 – 

30 June 2024 Contract/ Fair values 

Notional Assets   Liabilities 

$ $ $ 

Equity options 2,850,066 214,947 – 

Equity swaps 11,417,167 955,256 – 

Total derivatives 14,267,233 1,170,203 – 

5. Financial risk management

The Company’s financial instruments consist mainly of cash in bank, amounts due from/to brokers, 
trading portfolios, trade and other receivables and trade and other payables. 

The Company’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including interest rate 
risk, foreign exchange risk and price risk), credit risk, liquidity risk and other risks. The Directors, with 
the Investment Manager have implemented a risk management framework to mitigate these risks. 

Risk management philosophy and approach 

The Company has appointed the Investment Manager to manage the portfolio. The Investment 
Manager will be primarily responsible for managing the risk of the portfolio. The Investment Manager 
utilises the Tribeca Group’s proprietary risk management and portfolio management tools to ensure 
strict adherence to the company investment guidelines. 
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5. Financial risk management (continued)

Risk management philosophy and approach (continued) 

The Investment Manager considers investment risk to be the risk of permanent loss of capital. The 
Investment Manager’s risk policies and controls are designed to be robust and relevant to the 
Company’s investment objectives and strategy. These tools also add value to the portfolio 
construction process through real time monitoring of attributed risk and net exposures. The 
Investment Manager’s portfolio management process also incorporates a number of compliance and 
control measures including: 

(a) pre-trade compliance in the Tribeca Group’s order management system;

(b) post-trade compliance reviewed daily by the compliance team; and
(c) market stress tests conducted daily on the Portfolio in the Tribeca Group’s risk

management systems.

The investment team, meaning the key investment personnel responsible for implementation of the 
investment strategy, will maintain appropriate portfolio risk controls that monitor a variety of risk 
factors, including (without limitation) net portfolio market risk, individual stock contribution to net 
market risk and liquidity of long and short positions within the portfolio. 

The investment team meets at least once a week, and prior to any material change to the portfolio, 
to consider the portfolio and undertake a risk assessment. At these meetings, the portfolio managers 
assess the current risk metrics of the portfolio and model the impact from proposed changes. 

The Investment Manager is committed to robust corporate governance practices to create value and 
provide accountability and a control system commensurate with the risk involved. They ensure 
amongst other things the fair allocation of trades between all relevant entities and monitoring net and 
gross exposure within the portfolio. 

The Company manages risk by monitoring the Investment Manager’s compliance with the 
investment guidelines. Under the investment management agreement, the Investment Manager must 
report to the Directors on a regular basis. These reports allow the Directors to monitor the Investment 
Manager and the portfolio to ensure ongoing compliance with the investment strategy and investment 
guidelines. 

Market risk 

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in market prices. 

The portfolio is exposed to market risk. The market risk of assets in the Company’s portfolio can 
fluctuate as a result of market conditions. The value of the portfolio may be impacted by factors such 
as economic conditions, interest rates, regulations, sentiment and geopolitical events as well as 
environmental, social and technological changes. The Investment Manager seeks to reduce market 
and economic risks to the extent possible. 
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5. Financial risk management (continued)

Market risk (continued) 

Currency risk 

Investing in assets denominated in a foreign currency creates an exposure to foreign currency 
fluctuations, which can change the value of the portfolio’s investments measured in $. For example, 
if an equity investment is denominated in a foreign currency and that currency depreciates in value 
against the $, the value of that investment may depreciate when translated into $ and the portfolio 
may suffer a loss as a result, notwithstanding that the underlying equity has appreciated in value in 
its currency of denomination. The Investment Manager seeks to regularly monitor price movements 
for natural resources securities and if required, perform currency trades to continuously maintain an 
economically $ hedged portfolio. 

The table below summarises the fair value of the Company’s monetary financial assets and liabilities, 
which are denominated in a currency other than the Australian dollar. 

2025  United States Canadian  British Pound 

Dollar Dollar Sterling 

(USD) (CAD) (GBP) Others 

$ $ $ $ 

Financial assets 

Amounts due from brokers 19,470,723 8,626,417 588,686 6,788 

Financial assets at fair 

 value through profit or loss 35,581,532 2,960,534 520,591 – 

Trade and other receivables 71,441 12,371 2,210 – 

Total financial assets 55,123,696 11,599,322 1,111,487 6,788 

Financial liabilities 

Amounts due to brokers (40,664,019) (2) (5,145,367) (168,660) 

Financial liabilities at fair 

 value through profit or loss – (207,061) – – 

Trade and other payables (138,894) (4,317) (30,617) (232) 

Total financial liabilities (40,802,913) (211,380) (5,175,984) (168,892) 

Net exposure 14,320,783 11,387,942 (4,064,497) (162,104) 
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5. Financial risk management (continued)

Market risk (continued) 

Currency risk (continued) 

2024 USD CAD GBP Others 

$ $ $ $ 

Financial assets 

Amounts due from brokers 9,751,864 – – 6,522 

Financial assets at fair 

 value through profit or loss 33,117,561 29,281,005 8,228,980 – 

Trade and other receivables 86,817 11,778 – 21 

Total financial assets 42,956,242 29,292,783 8,228,980 6,543 

Financial liabilities 

Amounts due to brokers (22,293,783) (27,230,417) (6,153,908) (151,397) 

Trade and other payables (126,353) (142,214) (77,616) (306) 

Total financial liabilities (22,420,136) (27,372,631) (6,231,524) (151,703) 

Net exposure 20,536,106 1,920,152 1,997,456 (145,160) 

2025 USD CAD GBP Others 

Currency Exposure % % % % 

Financial assets 

Amounts due from brokers 27.37 12.12 0.83 0.01 

Financial assets at fair 

 value through profit or loss 22.48 1.87 0.33 0.00 

Trade and other receivables 14.53 2.52 0.45 0.00 

Total financial assets 64.38 16.51 1.61 0.01 

Financial liabilities 

Amounts due to brokers 56.43 0.00 7.14 0.23 

Financial liabilities at fair 

 value through profit or loss 0.00 3.24 0.00 0.00 

Trade and other payables 26.92 0.84 5.93 0.04 

Total financial liabilities 83.35 4.08 13.07 0.27 

Net exposure (18.97) 12.43 (11.46) (0.26) 
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5. Financial risk management (continued)

Market risk (continued) 

Currency risk (continued) 

2024 USD CAD GBP Others 

Currency Exposure % % % % 

Financial assets 

Amounts due from brokers 51.07 0.00 0.00 0.03 

Financial assets at fair 

 value through profit or loss 18.18 16.07 4.52 0.00 

Trade and other receivables 22.98 3.12 0.00 0.01 

Total financial assets 92.23 19.19 4.52 0.04 

Financial liabilities 

Amounts due to brokers 29.87 36.48 8.24 0.20 

Trade and other payables 16.63 18.72 10.22 0.04 

Total financial liabilities 46.50 55.20 18.46 0.24 

Net exposure 45.73 (36.01) (13.94) (0.20) 

Sensitivity analysis 

The following table indicates the currencies to which the Company had significant exposure as at 
30 June 2025 and 30 June 2024 on both its financial assets and liabilities. The analysis calculates 
the total effect of a reasonably possible movement of the currency rate against the $ on profit or loss 
with all other variables held constant. 

All amounts are stated in $. 

2025 Change in USD CAD GBP Others 

Currency  currency rate $ $ $ $ 

Financial assets 

Amounts due from brokers +/-10% +/-1,947,072 +/- 862,642 +/-58,869 +/-679 

Financial assets at fair value 

 through profit or loss +/-10% +/-3,558,153 +/-296,053 +/-52,059 +/-– 

Trade and other receivables +/-10% +/-7,144 +/-1,237 +/-221 +/-– 

Total financial assets 5,512,369 1,159,932 111,149 679 

Financial liabilities 

Amounts due to brokers +/-10% +/-4,066,402 +/-– +/-514,537 +/-16,866 

Financial liabilities at fair 

 value through profit or loss +/-10% +/-– +/-20,706 +/-– +/-– 

Trade and other payables +/-10% +/-13,889 +/-432 +/-3,062 +/-23 

Total financial liabilities 4,080,291 21,138 517,599 16,889 
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5. Financial risk management (continued) 
 
Market risk (continued) 
 
Sensitivity analysis (continued) 
 

2024  Change in   USD   CAD   GBP   Others 

Currency  currency rate   $   $   $   $ 

          

Financial assets         

Amounts due from brokers +/-10% +/-975,186 +/-– +/-– +/-652 

Financial assets at fair value 

 through profit or loss +/-10% +/-3,311,756 +/-2,928,101 +/-822,898 +/-– 

Trade and other receivables +/-10% +/-8,682 +/-1,178 +/-– +/-2 

      

Total financial assets  4,295,624 2,929,279 822,898 654 

      

Financial liabilities      

Amounts due to brokers +/-10% +/-2,229,378 +/-2,723,042 +/-615,391 +/-15,140 

Trade and other payables +/-10% +/-12,635 +/-14,221 +/-7,762 +/-31 

      

Total financial liabilities  2,242,013 2,737,263 623,153 15,171 

 
Interest rate risk 
 
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of interest bearing financial assets 
and financial liabilities will fluctuate because of changes in interest rates. The Company is exposed 
to risks associated with the effects of fluctuations in the prevailing levels of market interest rates on 
its financial position, financial performance and cash flows. The Company holds fixed income 
securities. The Company also has cash at bank and cash held with brokers that expose the Company 
to cash flow interest rate risk. The interest rate sensitivity for cash at bank and cash held with brokers 
is not significant to the Company. 
 
Financial instruments with a floating interest rate that resets as market rates change are exposed to 
cash flow interest rate risk. 
 
The dollar values of one basis point movement (DV01) is a measure of interest rate risk that 
represents the dollar value change in a bond or fixed income securities for a one basis point. 
 
As at 30 June 2025 and 30 June 2024, the DV01 of the direct investments of the Company are $83 
(2024: $193) which indicated that an increase/decrease of 100 basis point in interest rate will result 
in a gain/loss of $83 (2024: a gain/loss of $193) for the Company. 
 
Equity price risk 
 
There is a risk that securities will fall in value over short or extended years of time. Security markets 
tend to move in cycles, and individual share prices may fluctuate and underperform other asset 
classes over extended years of time. Shareholders in the Company are exposed to this risk through 
the Company’s portfolio. 
 
This arises from investments held by the Company and classified in the statement of financial 
position as financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss. 
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5. Financial risk management (continued) 
 
Market risk (continued) 
 
Equity price risk (continued) 
 
The table below analyses the Company’s concentration of equity price risk by geographical 
distribution. 
 

  2025   2025 

  Long   Short 

  $   $ 

Equity    

Australia 97,934,112  (5,850,463) 

Canada 9,482,079  (301,787) 

Ireland 102,040  – 

United Kingdom 238,950  (135,241) 

United States 29,910,832  (98,550) 

    
Total 137,668,013  (6,386,041) 

    
Equity options    

Australia 15,139  – 

    
Warrants    

Australia 203,919  – 

 

  2024   2024 

  Long   Short 

  $   $ 

Equity    

Australia 84,322,983  – 

Canada 40,624,507  – 

United Kingdom 7,273,725  – 

United States 27,413,473  – 

    
Total 159,634,688  – 

    
Equity options    

Australia 214,947  – 

    
Equity swaps    

United Kingdom 955,256  – 
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5. Financial risk management (continued)

Market risk (continued) 

Equity price risk (continued) 

The table below analyses the Company’s concentration of equity price risk by industrial distribution. 

2025 2025 

Long Short 

$ $ 

Consumer staples 2,959,621 – 

Energy 51,119,609 (600,443) 

Healthcare 280 – 

Materials 83,807,561 (5,785,598) 

Total 137,887,071 (6,386,041) 

2024 2024 

Long Short 

$ $ 

Consumer staples 116,158 – 

Energy 41,446,412 – 

Healthcare 2 – 

Information technology 1,007,522 – 

Materials 116,594,100 – 

Utilities 1,640,697 – 

Total 160,804,891 – 

The sensitivity analysis below reflects the exposure of equity price risk attributable to Australia, 
Canada, United Kingdom and United States equities held by the Company, including the effect of 
foreign currency exchange rates as at 30 June 2025 and 30 June 2024: 

2025 Effect on 

Change profit or loss 

in index and equity 

Market index % $ 

S&P/ASX 200 +/-8 +/-683,594 

NYSE Composite Index +/-8 +/-363,584 

CSE Composite Index +/-8 +/-167,259 

S&P/TSX Venture Composite Index +/-8 +/-8,135 
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5. Financial risk management (continued) 
 
Market risk (continued) 
 
Equity price risk (continued) 
 

2024    Effect on 

  Change   profit or loss 

  in index   and equity 

Market index  %   $ 

    

S&P/ASX 200 +/-8  +/-1,277,913 

FSTE 100 Index +/-8  +/-232,875 

TSX Composite Index +/-8  +/-159,393 

NYSE Composite Index +/-8  +/-152,328 
 
Credit risk 
 
Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss for the other 
party by failing to discharge an obligation. 
 
Credit risk primarily arises from investments in debt securities and from trading derivative products. 
The Company directly holds a fixed income security and indirectly holds a portfolio of fixed income 
securities through its unlisted unit trusts that expose the Company to credit risk. Other credit risk 
arises from cash at bank, broker balances, manager loan and deposits with banks and other financial 
institutions. 
 
The maximum exposure to credit risk, at the statement of financial position date to recognised 
financial assets, is the carrying amount, net of any provisions for impairment of those assets, as 
disclosed in the statement of financial position and notes to the financial statements. 
 
The Company held no collateral as security or any other credit enhancements. None of the assets 
exposed to a credit risk are overdue or considered to be impaired. 
 
The Company has pledged part of its short-term deposits in order to fulfill the collateral requirements. 
At 30 June 2025, the fair values of the short-term deposits pledged were $4,383,060 (30 June 2024: 
$13). The terms and conditions associated with the use of collateral are market standard terms and 
conditions. 
 
Financial assets subject to AASB 9’s impairment requirements 
 
The Company measures credit risk and ECL using probability of default, exposure at default and loss 
given default. The Company considers both historical analysis and forward looking information in 
determining any ECL. At 30 June 2025, cash at bank, amounts due from brokers and receivables 
are held with counterparties with a credit rating of AA-, A+ or A- (2024: BBB+) or higher. Management 
considers the probability of default to be close to zero as these instruments have a low risk of default 
and the counterparties have a strong capacity to meet their contractual obligations in the near term. 
As a result, no loss allowance has been recognised based on 12-month ECL as any such impairment 
would be wholly insignificant to the Company. 
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5. Financial risk management (continued)

Credit risk (continued) 

Financial assets not subject to AASB 9’s impairment requirements (continued) 

The Company holds the Manager loan at amortised cost. AASB 9 requires the Company to record 
ECLs either on a 12-month or lifetime basis. The Directors assessed that there have been no 
significant increase in credit risk of the creditor upon evaluating a range of possible outcomes and 
observing reasonable and supportable information that is available at the reporting date about current 
conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions. The Directors do not expect any significant 
impairment on this financial asset. 

The Company is exposed to credit risk on debt securities (directly and indirectly held) and derivative 
assets. These classes of financial assets are not subject to AASB 9’s impairment requirements as 
they are measured at fair value through profit or loss. The carrying value of these assets under 
AASB 9 represents the Company’s maximum exposure to credit risk on financial instruments not 
subject to the AASB 9 impairment requirements on the respective reporting dates. Hence, no 
separate maximum exposure to credit risk disclosure is provided for these instruments. 

Risk concentration of maximum exposure to credit risk 

The Company has a concentration of credit risk in that all of its level 1 and level 2 investment 
positions and receivable from broker amounts are primarily held by and due from Morgan Stanley & 
Co. International plc and UBS AG, which are rated as A- and A+ (2024: A- and A+), respectively by 
Standard and Poor’s as at year end. 

The main concentrations of credit risk at the statement of financial position date were as follows: 

30 June 30 June 

2025 2024 

$ $ 

Cash at bank 5,846,868 23,042,050 

Amounts due from brokers 71,148,159 19,095,215 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 158,303,280 182,159,068 

Manager loan 382,120 734,847 

Trade and other receivables 491,629 377,854 

Total 236,172,056 225,409,034 
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5. Financial risk management (continued) 
 
Credit risk (continued) 
 
Risk concentration of maximum exposure to credit risk (continued) 
 
The table below shows the concentration of each asset per counterparty: 
 

 Credit rating 

  30 June   30 June 

  2025   2024 

    

Cash at bank   

  Commonwealth Bank of Australia AA- AA- 

Amounts due from brokers   

  Morgan Stanley & Co. International plc A-  A- 

  UBS AG A+  A+ 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss   

  Morgan Stanley & Co. International plc A-  A- 

  UBS AG A+  A+ 

Trade and other receivables   

  Morgan Stanley & Co. International plc A-  A- 

  UBS AG A+  A+ 
 
The following table analyses the concentration of credit risk by geographical distribution: 

 

  30 June   30 June 

  2025   2024 

  %   % 

    

Australia 64.77 78.22 

Canada 0.69 0.00 

United Kingdom 0.48 0.00 

United States 34.06 21.78 

   

Total 100.00 100.00 

 
The following table analyses the concentration of credit risk in the Fund’s debt portfolio by industrial 
distribution: 
 

 Debt securities 

  30 June   30 June 

  2025   2024 

  %   % 

    

Industrials 28.85  0.00 

Materials 71.15 100.00 

   
Total 100.00 100.00 
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5. Financial risk management (continued) 
 
Liquidity risk 
 
The Company is exposed to liquidity risk in relation to the investments within its portfolio. If a security 
cannot be bought or sold quickly enough to minimise potential loss the Company may have difficulty 
satisfying commitments associated with financial instruments. 
 
The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Company’s financial liabilities based on 
contractual undiscounted receipts and payments as at 30 June 2025 and 30 June 2024: 
 

2025   1 to 3  3.1 to 12    More than    No fixed   

  On demand  months  months   1 year   maturity   Total 

  $  $  $   $   $   $ 

Financial liabilities       

Amounts due to 

 brokers 72,063,197 – – – – 72,063,197 

Financial liabilities at 

 fair value through 

 profit or loss – – – – 6,386,041 6,386,041 

Trade and other 

 payables – 515,894 – – – 515,894 

       
Total 72,063,197 515,894 – – 6,386,041 78,965,132 

 

2024   1 to 3  3.1 to 12    More than    No fixed   

  On demand  months  months   1 year   maturity   Total 

  $  $  $   $   $   $ 

Financial liabilities       

Amounts due to 

 brokers 74,639,480 – – – – 74,639,480 

Trade and other 

 payables – 759,657 – – – 759,657 

       
Total 74,639,480 759,657 – – – 75,399,137 

 
Other risk 
 
Foreign issuer and market risk 
 
The Company’s investment objective and strategies are focused on natural resources securities and 
credit positions and commodity positions. Investments in foreign companies may be exposed to a 
higher degree of sovereign, political, economic, market and corporate governance risks than 
domestic investments. 
 
Collateral risk 
 
The Company uses the services of a prime broker to facilitate the lending of securities to short sell. 
Until the Investment Manager returns a borrowed security, it will be required to maintain assets with 
the prime broker as collateral. As such, the Company may be exposed to certain risks in respect of 
that collateral. 

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



Tribeca Global Natural Resources Limited 
Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 

For the year ended 30 June 2025 

- 46 -

5. Financial risk management (continued)

Other risk (continued) 

Counterparty risk 

Investment in securities and financial instruments generally involves third parties as custodial and 
counterparties to contracts. Use of third parties carries risk of default and failure to secure custody 
which could adversely affect the value of the Company. 

The Company will use the services of the prime broker and outsource key operational functions 
including investment management, custody, execution, administration and valuation to a number of 
third party service providers. There is a risk that third party service providers may intentionally or 
unintentionally breach their obligations to the Company (such as a counterparty defaulting under a 
derivatives contract or a securities lender failing to deliver a borrowed security) or provide services 
below standards which are expected by the Company, causing loss to the Company. 

Portfolio turnover risk 

The Investment Manager may adjust the portfolio as considered advisable in view of prevailing or 
anticipated market conditions and the Company’s investment objectives, and there is no limitation 
on the length of time securities must be held, directly or indirectly, by the Company prior to being 
sold. Portfolio turnover rate will not be a limiting factor and will vary from year to year. Higher portfolio 
turnover rates involve correspondingly higher transaction costs, which are borne directly or indirectly 
by the Company. In addition, the Company may realise significant short term and long-term capital 
gains. 

Compensation fee structure risk 

The Investment Manager may receive compensation based on the portfolio’s performance. 
Performance fee arrangements may create an incentive for the Investment Manager to make 
investments that are riskier or more speculative than would be the case in the absence of a fee based 
on the performance of the portfolio. 

Regulatory risk 

All investments carry the risk that their value may be affected by changes in laws and regulations 
especially taxation laws. Regulatory risk includes risk associated with variations in the taxation laws 
of Australia or other jurisdictions in which the Company holds investments. 

Concentration risk 

The Company’s typical portfolio is expected to hold 20 to 60 long and short positions which 
represents moderate investment concentration. The lower the number of investments, the higher the 
concentration and, in turn, the higher the potential volatility. 

6. Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities

The Company presents the fair value of its derivative assets and liabilities on a gross basis, no such 
assets or liabilities have been offset in the statement of financial position. Certain derivative financial 
instruments are subject to enforceable master netting arrangements, such as an International Swaps 
and Derivatives Association master netting agreement, or similar agreements that cover similar 
financial instruments. 

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



Tribeca Global Natural Resources Limited 
Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 

For the year ended 30 June 2025 

 

 
 

 
- 47 - 

6. Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities (continued) 
 
The similar agreements include derivative clearing agreements, global master repurchase 
agreements, global master securities lending agreements, and any related rights to financial 
collateral. The similar financial instruments and transactions include derivatives, sale and repurchase 
agreements, reverse sale and repurchase agreements, securities borrowing, and securities lending 
agreements. 
 
The Company’s agreements allow for offsetting following an event of default, but not in the ordinary 
course of business, and the Company does not intend to settle these transactions on a net basis or 
settle the assets and liabilities on a simultaneous basis. 
 
The tables below set out the carrying amounts of recognised financial assets and liabilities that are 
subject to the above arrangements, together with collateral held or pledged against these assets and 
liabilities as at 30 June 2025 and 30 June 2024: 
 

2025    Amounts         

  Gross   offset in   Net amount   

  carrying   accordance   presented in  Related amounts not set-off in the 

  amounts   with   statement  statement of financial position 

  before   offsetting   of financial   Financial   Cash   Net 

  offsetting   criteria   positions   instruments   collateral   exposure 

  $   $   $   $   $   $ 

Financial assets            

Derivatives 219,058 – 219,058 – – 219,058 

Amount due from  

 brokers 71,148,159 – 71,148,159 (54,019,288) – 17,128,871 

       

Total 71,367,217 – 71,367,217 (54,019,288) – 17,347,929 

       

Financial liabilities       

Amount due to  

 brokers (72,063,197) – (72,063,197) 54,019,288 – (18,043,909) 

       

Total (72,063,197) – (72,063,197) 54,019,288 – (18,043,909) 
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6. Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities (continued) 
 

2024    Amounts         

  Gross   offset in   Net amount   

  carrying   accordance   presented in  Related amounts not set-off in the 

  amounts   with   statement  statement of financial position 

  before   offsetting   of financial   Financial   Cash   Net 

  offsetting   criteria   positions   instruments   collateral   exposure 

  $   $   $   $   $   $ 

Financial assets            

Derivatives 1,170,203 – 1,170,203 – – 1,170,203 

Amount due from  

 brokers 19,999,122 – 19,999,122 (14,163,832) – 5,835,290 

       

Total 21,169,325 – 21,169,325 (14,163,832) – 7,005,493 

       

Financial liabilities       

Amount due to  

 brokers (75,543,387) – (75,543,387) 14,163,832 – (61,379,555) 

       

Total (75,543,387) – (75,543,387) 14,163,832 – (61,379,555) 

 
 
7. Segment information 
 
The Company has identified its operating segments based on the internal reports that are reviewed by 
the Investment Manager (who is identified as the Chief Operating Decision Makers (“CODM”)) in 
assessing and determining the allocation of resources. 
 
The Company operates in one business segment, being investment in securities. 
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8. Reconciliation of net profit/(loss) to net cash from operating activities 
 

  30 June   30 June 

  2025   2024 

  $   $ 

    

Net profit/(loss) for the year 5,016,143  (9,589,339) 

Adjustment for:    
Effect of foreign currency exchange rate changes on cash 

 at bank 1,566,393  (904,130) 

    
Adjustment to reconcile profit/(loss) for the year     
 to net cash from operating activities    
Net change in amounts due from brokers (52,052,944)  41,235,852 

Net change in financial assets at fair value through profit 

 or loss 23,855,788  63,015,603 

Net change in manager loan 352,727  352,726 

Net change in trade and other receivables (113,775)  (35,784) 

Net change in current tax assets 110,051  162,906 

Net change in prepayments 37,574  58,479 

Net change in deferred tax assets 2,032,875  (4,786,904) 

Net change in amounts due to brokers (2,576,283)  (61,097,105) 

Net change in financial liabilities at fair value through profit 

 or loss 6,386,041  (4,218,668) 

Net change in trade and other payables (243,763)  (110,047) 

Net change in current tax liabilities 384  – 

    
Net cash (used in)/from operating activities (15,628,789)  24,083,589 

 
 
9. Trade and other payables 
 

  30 June   30 June 

  2025   2024 

  $   $ 

   

Management fees payable 197,386 187,681 

Interest payable 189,821 448,122 

Audit fees payable 74,784 68,780 

Administration fees payable 8,024 7,708 

Other payables and accrued expenses 45,879 47,366 

   

Total trade and other payables 515,894 759,657 
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10. Amounts due from/to brokers 
 
Amounts due from/to broker include cash balances with the clearing brokers and amounts receivable 
or payable for securities transactions which have not settled during the year. 
 

  30 June   30 June 

  2025   2024 

  $   $ 

    

Due from brokers    

Cash balances 63,568,770 18,453,275 

Receivable for securities sold 7,579,389 641,940 

   

Total 71,148,159 19,095,215 

   

Due to brokers   

Cash balances 50,283,497 72,994,067 

Payable for securities purchased 21,779,700 1,645,413 

   

Total 72,063,197 74,639,480 

 
Cash balances due from broker mainly include cash from short sales subject to withdrawal restrictions 
until the related securities are purchased.  
 
 
11. Issued capital 
 
The authorised share capital of the Company is $189,963,862 (2024: $189,963,862) divided into 
78,791,934 (2024: 78,791,934) ordinary shares of $2.41 per share (average issue price). All issued 
ordinary shares are fully paid and are listed on the ASX. The Company’s capital is represented by 
these ordinary shares. 
 
(a) Share capital 
 

  30 June   30 June 

  2025   2024 

   

Number of ordinary shares 78,791,934 78,791,934 
 

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



Tribeca Global Natural Resources Limited 
Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 

For the year ended 30 June 2025 

 

 
 

 
- 51 - 

11. Issued capital (continued) 
 
(b) Movements in ordinary share capital 
 

  Number of   

  shares   $ 

    

Opening balance at 1 July 2023 78,579,331 187,452,357 

Shares issued 212,603 373,359 

   

Closing balance at 30 June 2024 78,791,934 187,825,716 

   

Opening balance at 1 July 2024 78,791,934 187,825,716 

Shares issued – – 

   

Closing balance at 30 June 2025 78,791,934 187,825,716 

 
Capital management policy 
 
The Board will regularly review the capital structure of the Company and, where the Board considers 
appropriate, undertake capital management initiates which may involve: 
 

(a) the issue of other shares (through bonus options issues, placement, pro rata issues, 
etc.); or 

(b) the buy-back of its shares. 

 
 
12. Earnings/(losses) per share 
 

  For the   For the 

  year ended   year ended 

  30 June   30 June 

  2025   2024 

  $   $ 

   

Net profit/(loss) after income tax used in the calculation of 

 basic and diluted earnings/(losses) per share 5,016,143 (9,589,339) 
 
(a) Basic and diluted earnings/(losses) per share 
 

  30 June   30 June 

  2025   2024 

  $   $ 

    

Basic earnings/(losses) per share attributable to the ordinary 

 equity holders of the Company 0.06 (0.12) 

   

Diluted earnings/(losses) per share attributable to the ordinary 

 equity holders of the Company 0.06 (0.12) 
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12. Earnings/(losses) per share (continued) 
 
(b) Weighted average number of shares used as denominator 
 

  No. of   No. of 

  shares   shares 

  30 June 2025  30 June 2024 

   

Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during 

 the period used in calculating basic and diluted earnings/(losses) 

 per share 78,791,934* 78,743,589*
 
* The weighted average number of shares used as the denominator in calculating basic profit or losses per 

share is based on the average number of shares for the year ended 30 June 2025 and 30 June 2024, 
respectively. 

 
As at the end of the year, there are no outstanding securities that are potentially dilutive in nature for 
the Company. 
 
 
13. Related parties 
 
Details of key management personnel 
 
Key management personnel for the year ended 30 June 2025 are those persons who are identified 
as having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the 
Company, directly or indirectly, including and Non-executive Director of the Company. 
 
Names and positions held by Directors and Officers of the Company in office at any time during the 
financial year are: 
 

Name Title Earliest appointment date Last re-election date 

Rebecca O’Dwyer Chairperson 4 January 2021 17 November 2023 

Nicholas Myers Non-executive Director 30 August 2021 22 November 2024 

Bruce Loveday Non-executive Director 18 July 2018 25 November 2022 
 
Tribeca Global Natural Resources Credit Fund 
 
As at 30 June 2024, the Company held an investment in Tribeca Global Natural Resources Credit 
Fund with fair value of $760,283 which represents 21.34% of the NAV of the investee fund. The 
investee fund is managed by a related entity of the Investment Manager. 
 
On 29 November 2024, the Directors of the investee fund approved the wind down of Tribeca Global 
Natural Resources Credit Fund. On 27 December 2024, the Investee Fund has distributed all of its 
remaining cash. 
 
VT Carbon Fund 
 
As at 30 June 2025, the Company held an investment in VT Carbon Fund with a fair value of 
$2,653,373 (2024: $4,240,545) which represents 48.13% (2024: 41.33%) of the NAV of the investee 
fund. The investee fund is managed by a related entity of the Investment Manager. 
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13. Related parties (continued) 
 
Kimberley Syndicate Trust 
 
As at 30 June 2025, the Company held an investment in Kimberley Syndicate Trust with fair value of 
$16,450,293 (2024: $14,434,124) which represents 62.71% (2024: 62.40%) of the NAV of the 
investee fund. The investee fund is managed by a related entity of the Investment Manager. 
 
Investment Manager 
 
As at 30 June 2025, the related entities of the Company held total shares as: 
 
 Tribeca Global Resources Pty Ltd has Nil shares (2024: 750,000 shares or 0.95% of the 

Company’s NAV); and 
 Tribeca Investment Partners Pty Ltd has 357,000 shares (2024: Nil shares) which is 

equivalent to 0.45% of the Company’s NAV (2024: Nil) 
 
In February 2025, the Investment Manager effected an in-specie distribution of its 750,000 shares in 
the Company, allocating them directly to shareholders of the Investment Manager including Tribeca 
Investment Partners Pty Ltd. 
 
Manager loan 
 
The Company entered into a loan agreement with the Investment Manager on 21 February 2023. 
The Investment Manager has agreed to be responsible for the payment of share offer costs that the 
Company would be normally liable for. These costs will be paid upfront by the Company; however, 
the Investment Manager will repay the share offer costs to the Company in accordance with the 
Manager loan. 
 
The Manager loan is an unsecured loan that the Investment Manager may use for working capital 
purposes. The Investment Manager will use the Manager loan to reimburse the Company for the 
costs of the share offer. 
 
The Investment Manager is required to repay the Manager loan in monthly instalments over the  
40-month term. Each instalment should be equal to at least 1/40th of the total loan amount. If the 
Investment Manager’s repayments remain in arrears, the loan will be subject to a monthly interest at 
the default interest equal to Reserve Bank of Australia cash rate plus 4% per annum. The Company 
will have a right to offset all payments otherwise due to the Investment Manager for so long the 
Investment Manager is in arrears. 
 
The Investment Manager may repay the Manager loan early at its absolute discretion. The Company 
has a right of recourse against the Investment Manager for the amounts owed under the Manager 
loan. 
 
During the year, the total share offer costs paid by the Company amounted to $Nil (2024: $Nil). As 
at 30 June 2025, the balance of the Company’s Manager loan amounted to $382,121 (2024: 
$734,847) presented as current and non-current asset in the statement of financial position 
amounting to $352,726 (2024: $352,726) and $29,394 (2024: $382,121), respectively. 
 
The management fees that was offset against manager loan during the year amounted to $352,726 
(2024: $352,726). 
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13. Related parties (continued) 
 
Management fees 
 
In return for the performance of its duties under the investment management agreement, the 
Investment Manager is entitled to be paid, and the Company must pay to the Investment Manager a 
management fee equal to 1.5% per annum (plus GST) of the value of the portfolio (calculated on the 
last business day of each month and paid at the end of each month in arrears). 
 
The management fee is to be paid to the Investment Manager regardless of the performance of the 
Company. Management fees would increase if the value of the portfolio increases and decrease if 
the value of the portfolio decreases over the year. 
 
Management fees incurred during the year amounted to $2,355,991 (2024: $2,453,730) of which 
$197,386 (2024: $187,681) remained payable. For the year ended 30 June 2025, in its capacity as 
Investment Manager, Tribeca Global Resources Pty Ltd was partially paid management fees through 
reimbursement of the Company’s share offer costs. 
 
Directors’ fees 
 
Non-executive Directors are entitled to receive Directors’ fees of up to $150,000 per annum to be 
shared among the Directors. For the year ended 30 June 2025, the amount incurred amounted to 
$105,000 (2024: $138,542), none of which remained payable (2024: $Nil). 
 
Performance fees 
 
In return for the performance of its duties as Investment Manager of the Portfolio, the Investment 
Manager is entitled to be paid and the Company must pay to the Investment Manager (which 
remuneration is to be obtained for the use and benefit of the Investment Manager) a fee (performance 
fee) of 20% (plus GST) of A, where A for a performance calculation period is calculated in accordance 
with the following formula: 
 
A = B - C 
 
Where: 
 
A is the base amount to be used in calculating the performance fee outlined above. 
 
B is the value of the portfolio after payment of management fees, calculated on the last business day 
of the relevant performance calculation period. 
 
C is the value of the portfolio, after payment of management fees and performance fees, calculated 
on the last business day of the last performance calculation period in which a performance fee was 
paid or if no prior performance fee has been paid to the Investment Manager, the value of the portfolio 
on the commencement date. 
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13. Related parties (continued) 
 
Performance fees (continued) 
 
If the value of the portfolio (after payment of management fees) calculated on the last business day 
of a performance calculation period is less than: 
 
(a) for the first performance calculation period, the value of the portfolio on the commencement date; 
 
(b) thereafter, the highest value of the portfolio, after payment of management fees and performance 

fees, calculated on the last business day of any preceding performance calculation period, no 
performance fee is payable in respect of that performance calculation period. If the amount 
calculated for A is a negative number, no performance fee is payable in respect of that 
performance calculation period. 

 
In calculating the performance fee for a performance calculation period, changes in the value of the 
portfolio as a result of the issue of securities, capital reductions or share buy-backs undertaken by 
the Company or payment of tax and dividend distribution will be disregarded or adjusted for in a 
manner determined by the auditor at the conclusion of that performance calculation period. 
 
The auditor of the Company must review the calculation of the performance fee prior to payment. 
 
There were no performance fees incurred and payable during the year ended 30 June 2025 and 
30 June 2024. 
 
 
14. Income tax 
 
For the year ended 30 June 2025 and 30 June 2024, the Company no longer qualify as base rate entity. 
The tax provision of the Company is calculated at a 30% tax rate. 
 
(a) Income tax expense/(benefit) attributable for the year differs from the prima facie amount 

on operating profit/(loss). The difference is reconciled as follows: 
 

  For the   For the 

  year ended   year ended 

  30 June   30 June 

  2025   2024 

  $   $ 

    

Profit/(loss) before income tax 7,049,018 (14,376,243) 

Prior year adjustments – (861,553) 

Franking credit 157,495 113,320 

Foreign tax credit 94,721 212,974 

Franking credit converted to tax loss (524,985) – 

Total 6,776,249 (14,911,502) 

Prima facie income tax expense/(benefit) on the net 

 income/(loss) at 30% 2,032,875 (4,473,450) 

Franking credit – (113,320) 

Foreign tax credit – (200,134) 

   

Income tax expense/(benefit) 2,032,875 (4,786,904) 
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14. Income tax (continued) 
 
(b) The major components of income tax expense/(benefit) are: 
 

  For the   For the 

  year ended   year ended 

  30 June   30 June 

  2025   2024 

  $   $ 

    

Current income tax – – 

Deferred income tax 2,032,875 (4,786,904) 

   

 2,032,875 (4,786,904) 

 
(c) Deferred tax assets relate to the following: 
 

  30 June   30 June 

  2025   2024 

  $   $ 

    

Opening balance 14,027,023  9,240,119 

Tax gains/(losses) carried forward 6,844,767  (2,317,748) 

Unrealised (gains)/losses on investments (8,892,554)  6,946,093 

Costs associated with the issue of shares 35,264  (70,553) 

Prior year adjustments –  258,466 

Accrued dividend (21,036)  (40,394) 

Other temporary differences 684  11,040 

    

Deferred tax assets 11,994,148  14,027,023 

    

Movements:    

Opening balance 14,027,023  9,240,119 

(Credited)/debited    

- directly to profit or loss (2,032,875)  4,786,904 

    

Closing balance 11,994,148  14,027,023 
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14. Income tax (continued)

Statement of financial position 

Statement of profit or loss and 

other comprehensive income 

2025 2024 2025 2024 

$ $ $ $ 

Revaluation of financial 

assets at fair value through 

 profit or loss 4,840,303 13,732,857 (8,892,554)  6,946,093 

Set up cost amortised in

5 years for tax purpose 246,925 211,660 35,264 (70,553) 

Accruals and other items 789,074 809,426 (20,352)  (29,354) 

Tax loss carried forward 6,877,255 32,489 6,844,767 (2,317,748) 

Prior year adjustments (759,409)  (759,409)  – 258,466

Deferred tax 

(expense)/benefit (2,032,875)  4,786,904 

Net deferred tax asset 11,994,148 14,027,023 

(d) Current tax assets relate to the following:

30 June 30 June 

2025 2024 

$ $ 

Opening balance 110,051 272,957 

Current year tax liabilities – – 

Current tax paid (110,435) (162,906) 

Current tax (liabilities)/assets (384) 110,051

15. Other expenses

For the For the 

year ended year ended 

30 June 30 June 

2025 2024 

$ $ 

Insurance expense 297,443 344,037 

Regulatory fees 80,697 85,435 

Tax compliance service expense 18,385 18,645 

Financial statement preparation fees 17,784 16,981 

Operating expenses 10,112 – 

Total other expenses 424,421 465,098 
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16. Contingencies and commitments

The Company had no contingent assets, liabilities or commitments as at 30 June 2025 and 30 June 
2024. 

17. Remuneration of auditors

During the year, the following fees were paid or payable for services provided by the auditor, Ernst & 
Young to the Company. 

Auditor’s Remuneration 30 June 2025 30 June 2024 
Fees to Ernst & Young (Australia) 
Fees for auditing the statutory financial report of the 

Company 77,000 79,731 
Fees for other services 

- Tax compliance service 18,385 18,645 

Total fees to Ernst & Young (Australia) 95,385 98,376 

Total auditor’s remuneration 95,385 98,376 

The statutory audit requirements for the Company vary from year to year and can have an impact on 
the level of audit fees. The Company may decide to engage the auditor on other non-audit assignments 
in addition to their statutory audit duties where the auditor’s expertise and experience with the Company 
is important. 

The auditor has provided an independence declaration and the Directors are satisfied that the work 
performed on other non-audit services was conducted by a team separate from the audit team and 
does not impact the independence of the auditor. 

18. Significant event during the year

There were no significant events during the year. 

19. Events occurring after the reporting year

No matter or circumstance has occurred subsequent to year end that has significantly affected, or may 
significantly affect, the operations of the Company, the results of those operations or the state of affairs 
of the Company in subsequent financial years. 
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Consolidated entity disclosure statement 

Disclosure of subsidiaries and their country of tax residency, as required by the Corporations Act 
2001, does not apply to the Company as the Company is not required by accounting standards to 
prepare consolidated financial statements. 
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In accordance with a resolution of the Directors of Tribeca Global Natural Resources Limited 
(the “Company”), I state that: 

1) In the opinion of the Directors:

(a) the financial statements and notes are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001,

including:

(i) giving a true and fair view of the Company’s financial position as at 30 June 2025 and
of its performance for the year ended on that date; and

(ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations
2001;

(b) the consolidated entity disclosure statement required by section 295 (3A) of the
Corporations Act 2001 is true and correct; and

(c) the financial statements and notes also comply with International Financial Reporting
Standards as disclosed in Note 1; and

(d) there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as
and when they become due and payable.

2) This declaration has been made after receiving the declarations required to be made to the
Directors from the Investment Manager in accordance with section 295A of the Corporations
Act 2001 for the financial year ended 30 June 2025.

On behalf of the Board 

Rebecca O’Dwyer 
Independent Chairperson 
Sydney 
25 August 2025 
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Below is the list of all investments held as required by Australian Securities Exchange (“ASX”) 
Limited Listing Rule 4.10.20(a). 
 
As at 30 June 2025, the Company held investments in the following entities: 
 

Adriatic Metals PLC Genesis Minerals Limited Perseus Mining Limited 

Alcoa Corporation Gold Road Resources Limited Pilbara Minerals Limited 

Alpha HPA Limited Gorilla Gold Mines Ltd Power Metallic Mines Inc. 

AMCOR PLC Greatland Resources Limited Ramelius Resources Limited 

Ampol Limited IGO Limited Regis Resources Limited 

Arizona Lithium Limited Iluka Resources Limited Resolute Mining Limited 

Beach Energy Limited Imdex Limited Rio Tinto Group 

Bellevue Gold Limited  IperionX Limited Sandfire Resources Limited 

BHP Group Limited James Hardie Industries plc Santos Limited 

BlueScope Steel Limited Karoon Energy Ltd Select Harvests Limited 

Boss Energy Limited Kimberley Syndicate Trust Sims Limited 

Brickworks Limited Liontown Resources Limited South32 Limited 

Burgundy Diamond Mines Limited Lotus Resources Limited Southern Cross Gold Consolidated Ltd. 

Cameco Corporation Lunnon Metals Limited Spartan Resources Limited 

Capricorn Metals Ltd Lynas Rare Earths Limited Sprott Physical Uranium Trust Fund 

Capstone Copper Corp MAC Copper Limited Stacked Farm Holdings Pty Ltd 

Catalyst Metals Limited Mineral Resources Limited Stanmore Resources Limited 

Chalice Brands Ltd. Mont Royal Resources Ltd Tamboran Resources Corporation 

Champion Iron Limited Mute International Limited Terra Metals Limited 

Coronado Global Resources Inc. New Hope Corporation Limited Tesoro Gold Ltd 

Deep Yellow Limited Newmont Corporation Titan Minerals Limited 

Deterra Royalties Limited NexGen Energy Ltd. Trion Battery Technologies Inc.  

Develop Global Limited Nickel Industries Limited Vault Minerals Limited 

Dyno Nobel Limited Northam Resources Viva Energy Group Limited 

Elders Limited Northern Star Resources Limited VT Carbon Fund 

Emerald Resources NL Nufarm Limited Vulcan Energy Resources Limited 

Energy Fuels Inc. Omega Oil & Gas Limited WA1 Resources Ltd 

Evolution Mining Limited Ora Banda Mining Limited West African Resources Limited 

FireFly Metals Ltd Orica Limited Westgold Resources Limited 

Fortescue Ltd Orora Limited White Cliff Minerals Limited 

Freemantle Octopus Group Paladin Energy Ltd  Whitehaven Coal Limited 

Freeport-McMoRan Inc. Pantoro Gold Limited Woodside Energy Group Ltd  

Future Battery Minerals Ltd Peel Mining Limited Yancoal Australia Ltd 

G11 Resources Limited Perenti Limited  
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The Shareholder information set out below was applicable as at 30 June 2025. 
 
Additional information required by the Australian Securities Exchange Limited Listing Rules and not 
disclosed elsewhere in this report is listed below. 
 
A. Distribution of Shareholders 
 
Analysis of numbers of fully paid ordinary shares holders by size of holding: 
 
Holding Ranges  Holders   Total Units   % 
      
1 – 1,000 180  87,085   0.11 
1,001 – 5,000 486 1,497,443   1.90 
5,001 – 10,000 510 4,145,185   5.26 
10,001 – 100,000 1,220 34,832,106   44.21 
100,001 – 9,999,999,999 87 38,230,115   48.52 
Total 2,483 78,791,934   100.00 
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B. Twenty largest shareholders 
 

 Fully Paid Ordinary Shares 

  Number   Percentage of 

Name  held   issued shares 

    % 

    

HSBC CUSTODY NOMINEES (AUSTRALIA) LIMITED 4,713,352   5.98% 

MR BENJAMIN JAMES CLEARY 3,800,000   4.82% 
BNP PARIBAS NOMINEES PTY LTD <HUB24 CUSTODIAL 
 SERV LTD> 3,624,688   4.60% 

CITICORP NOMINEES PTY LIMITED 3,168,072   4.02% 
BNP PARIBAS NOMINEES PTY LTD <IB AU NOMS 
 RETAILCLIENT> 3,146,952   3.99% 
NETWEALTH INVESTMENTS LIMITED <WRAP SERVICES 
 A/C> 2,288,730   2.90% 
PERPETUAL CORPORATE TRUST LTD <AFFLUENCE LIC 
 FUND> 700,000   0.89% 
NETWEALTH INVESTMENTS LIMITED <SUPER SERVICES 
 A/C> 689,678   0.88% 

GUY JONES PTY LTD <THE GUY JONES FAMILY S/F A/C>  525,000   0.67% 
MR SIMON ROBERT EVANS + MRS KATHRYN MARGARET 
 EVANS <KAMIYACHO SUPER FUND A/C> 500,000   0.63% 

JETOSEA PTY LTD 438,601   0.56% 

10 BARCLAY INVESTMENTS PTY LTD 428,586   0.54% 

ARKY INVESTMENTS PTY LTD <ARKY A/C> 407,176   0.52% 
HENDO FAMILY SUPERANNUATION PTY LTD <HENDERSON 
 SUPERFUND A/C> 400,000   0.51% 

BNP PARIBAS NOMS PTY LTD 379,351   0.48% 

MARK HALL PTY LTD 374,507   0.48% 

MR ADRIAN LOBO 374,016   0.47% 

HSBC CUSTODY NOMINEES (AUSTRALIA) LIMITED - A/C 2 357,143   0.45% 

TRIBECA INVESTMENT PARTNERS PTY LTD 357,000   0.45% 

HABUVO PTY LTD <HABUVO PTY LTD S/F A/C> 324,953   0.41% 

    
Total of top twenty shareholders balance 26,997,805   34.25% 

    
Total remaining holders balance 51,794,129   65.75% 

    
Total shareholders balance 78,791,934   100.00% 

 
C. Substantial holders 
 

  Number   Percentage of 

Name  held   issued shares 

    % 

    

HSBC CUSTODY NOMINEES (AUSTRALIA) LIMITED 4,713,352   5.98% 

MR BENJAMIN JAMES CLEARY 3,800,000   4.82% 
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D. Voting rights

The voting rights attaching to each class of equity securities are set out below: 

Each share confers on its holder the right to vote at a general meeting of Shareholders (whether present 
in person or by any representative, proxy or attorney) on a show of hands (one vote per shareholder) 
and on a poll (one vote per Share on which there is no money due and payable) subject to the rights 
and restrictions on voting which may attach to or be imposed on Shares (at present there are none). 

E. Stock exchange listing

Quotation has been granted for all of the ordinary shares and options of the Company on all Member 
Exchanges of the ASX Limited. 

F. Unquoted securities

There are no unquoted shares. 

G. Securities subject to voluntary escrow

There are no securities subject to voluntary escrow. 

H. Brokerage

During the year ended 30 June 2025, the Company recorded 1,643 transactions in securities. Total 
brokerage accrued was $5,480,676 (2024: $3,411,740) and all of which was paid as at 30 June 2025 
(2024: $3,411,740). 

I. On market buy-back

There are no share buy-back transactions for the year ended 30 June 2025. 
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A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited
Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation

Ernst & Young
200 George Street
Sydney  NSW  2000 Australia
GPO Box 2646 Sydney  NSW  2001

Tel: +61 2 9248 5555
Fax: +61 2 9248 5959
ey.com/au

Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of Tribeca Global Natural
Resources Limited

Report on the audit of the financial report

Opinion
We have audited the financial report of Tribeca Global Natural Resources Limited (the Company), which
comprises the statement of financial position as at 30 June 2025, the statement of profit or loss and
comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, notes to the financial statements, including material accounting policy information, the
consolidated entity disclosure statement and the directors’ declaration.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial report of the Company is in accordance with the
Corporations Act 2001, including:

a. Giving a true and fair view of the Company’s financial position as at 30 June 2025 and of its 
financial performance for the year ended on that date; and

b. Complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial report
section of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the auditor independence
requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 and the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional
and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including
Independence Standards) (the Code) that are relevant to our audit of the financial report in Australia.
We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion.

Key audit matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our
audit of the financial report of the current year. These matters were addressed in the context of our
audit of the financial report as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, but we do not provide a
separate opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our description of how our audit addressed
the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
financial report section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit
included the performance of procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the financial report. The results of our audit procedures, including the procedures
performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying
financial report.
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Investment existence and valuation
Why significant How our audit addressed the key audit matter

The Company has an investment portfolio
consisting of long and short positions in listed
securities and long positions in unlisted
securities.  As at 30 June 2025, the financial
assets and financial liabilities totalled
$158,303,280 and $6,386,041 made up
approximately 64% and 8% of the total assets
and total liabilities, respectively, of the
Company.

As disclosed in the Company’s accounting policy
Note 1, these financial assets and financial
liabilities are measured at fair value through
profit or loss in accordance with the
requirements of Australian Accounting
Standards.

Pricing, exchange rates and other market
drivers can have a significant impact on the
value of these financial assets and financial
liabilities, and in turn, the financial report. For
Level 3 investments, management exercises
significant judgement in estimating the fair
values.

Accordingly, existence and valuation of the
investment portfolio was considered a key audit
matter.

Our audit procedures included the following:

Assessed the effectiveness of the controls
relating to the recognition and valuation of
investments.

Obtained and assessed the assurance report on
the controls of the Company’s administrator in
relation to the fund administration services for
the period ended 30 June 2025, and assessed
the auditor’s qualifications, competence and
objectivity, and the results of their procedures.

Agreed all investment holdings, including cash
accounts, to third party confirmations at 30
June 2025.

For listed securities, the unit values were
assessed against independently sourced market
prices.

For unlisted investments, with the involvement
of our valuation specialists, we evaluated the
appropriateness of the valuation techniques
used by management, agreed the valuation
models’ observable and unobservable inputs to
supporting documentation, and assessed the
reasonableness of the assumptions applied in
calculating the fair value of the investments. We
also tested the mathematical accuracy of the
valuation models.

For unlisted unit trusts, we obtained and agreed
the unit prices to the net asset value statements
provided  by the external fund administrator. We
obtained the trial balance of the unlisted unit
trusts and assessed the appropriateness of the
valuations adopted. We also assessed the
appropriateness of the underlying valuation
methods and key assumptions applied by the
external investment manager, engaged our
valuation specialists where appropriate and
reviewed the fair values of the investments.
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Why significant How our audit addressed the key audit matter

We also assessed the adequacy and
appropriateness of the disclosures included in
the Notes to the financial report.

Management and Performance Fees
Why significant How our audit addressed the key audit matter

As at 30 June 2025, management fees and
performance fees totalled $2,355,991 and $Nil
respectively as disclosed in Note 13.
Management fees equate to 18% of total
expenses.

Management and performance fees paid to the
manager, Tribeca Global Resources Pty Ltd, are
the most significant operating expenses for the
Company.

Performance fees are recognised as an expense
if the performance hurdles for the Company have
been met at the end of the relevant measurement
period, which is the date that the performance
criteria is met and the liability has been
crystallised. Due to the value of these expenses
and the impact that market volatility can have on
the recognition of performance this was
considered a key audit matter.

Our audit procedures included the following:

Obtained and assessed the assurance report on
the controls of the Company’s administrator in
relation to the fund administration services for
the period ended 30 June 2025, and assessed
the auditor’s qualifications, competence and
objectivity, and the results of their procedures.

Recalculated management fees, in accordance
with the board-approved relevant services
agreement, including agreeing the fee rate to the
calculation.

Assessed the performance fee calculation,
including testing the inputs into the calculation
model and assessed whether the calculation was
in accordance with the board-approved relevant
services agreement.

Assessed whether the relevant criteria for
accrual of a performance fee liability were met at
30 June 2025.

We also assessed the adequacy and
appropriateness of the disclosures included in the
Notes to the financial report.

Information other than the financial report and auditor’s report thereon
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the
information included in the Company’s 2025 annual report, but does not include the financial report
and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and accordingly we do not
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon, with the exception of the Remuneration Report and
our related assurance opinion.
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In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial
report or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the directors for the financial report
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of:

a. The financial report (other than the consolidated entity disclosure statement) that gives a true and
fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001;
and;

b. The consolidated entity disclosure statement that is true and correct in accordance with the
Corporations Act 2001, and

for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of:

i. The financial report (other than the consolidated entity disclosure statement) that gives a true and
fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; and

ii. The consolidated entity disclosure statement that is true and correct and is free of misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters relating to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Company or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial report

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes
our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report.

As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

► Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud
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may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

► Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control.

► Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the directors of the Company.

► Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our
auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial report or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to
cease to continue as a going concern.

► Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions and events in
a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of
the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated to the directors, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the financial report of the current year and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.
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Report on the audit of the Remuneration Report

Opinion on the Remuneration Report
We have audited the Remuneration Report included in pages 9 to 10 of the directors’ report for the year
ended 30 June 2025.

In our opinion, the Remuneration Report of Tribeca Global Natural Resources Limited for the year ended
30 June 2025, complies with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001.

Responsibilities
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the Remuneration
Report in accordance with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. Our responsibility is to express
an opinion on the Remuneration Report, based on our audit conducted in accordance with Australian
Auditing Standards.

Ernst & Young

Jaddus Manga
Partner
Sydney
25 August 2025
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